

A SPATIO-TEMPORAL MODEL FOR CANCELLOUS BONE AT THE TISSUE SCALE

by

Brianna Martin

Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

College of Science and Engineering 1st October 2019 All models are wrong. Some are useful.

George Box.

Abstract

A spatio-temporal partial differentiation model is presented for the change in cancellous bone volume in growing animals, in terms of key bone remodelling processes. The model parameters were found by optimising the analytic solution of the model over experimental bone volume data. Experimental data comprises microcomputed CT scans of juvenile rat tibia from three groups, including normal rats, oestrogen-deplete rats, and oestrogen-deplete rats treated with bisphosphonates. The model demonstrates that cancellous bone volume in normal growing rats does not change over time. The model also explains the changes in cancellous bone volume due to oestrogen depletion and bisphosphonate treatment. However, for bisphosphonate treated rats, the model cannot explain all of the changes in cancellous bone volume mechanistically, for bone adjacent to the growth plate. Good fits between the model and data were obtained by making simple assumptions regarding the effect of treatment, leading to conjecture regarding the role of bisphosphonates in growing animals.

Contents

List of Figures					viii
Li	ist of	Table	s		x
D	eclar	ation			xi
A	cknov	wledeg	ments		xiii
N	omer	nclatur	e		xvii
1	Intr	roduct	ion		1
	1.1	Bone	biology		1
		1.1.1	Long bo	one structure	2
		1.1.2	Endoche	ondral ossification	6
			1.1.2.1	Growth plate dynamics	6
			1.1.2.2	Local growth plate regulation	8
			1.1.2.3	Vascular front	9
			1.1.2.4	Bone cells	10
			1.1.2.5	RANK-RANKL-OPG	12

			1.1.2.6 Oestrogen	13
		1.1.3	Bone remodelling	14
			1.1.3.1 In vitro, in vivo and in silico testing \ldots \ldots \ldots	16
		1.1.4	Bone loss and treatments	20
			1.1.4.1 Bisphosphonates	20
	1.2	Thesis	overview	24
		1.2.1	Thesis objectives	24
		1.2.2	Structure of the thesis	25
0	D-4	_		07
2	Dat	a		27
	2.1	Post-p	processing of μCT data	28
		2.1.1	Bone block extraction	28
		2.1.2	Binarisation	31
		2.1.3	Morphological filtering	31
	2.2	Exper	imental data analysis	32
		2.2.1	BV/TV	34
		2.2.2	Methods for BV/TV curve fitting $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	35
			2.2.2.1 sham and ovx	38
			2.2.2.2 ovx+zol	38
		2.2.3	Results	40
			2.2.3.1 sham and ovx rats	40
			2.2.3.2 ovx+zol	43
		2.2.4	Conclusion	46

3	Mat	themat	ical model for \mathbf{BV}/\mathbf{TV}		49
	3.1	Prior	work		49
	3.2	Spatia	l extension		50
	3.3	Model	for BV/TV		52
		3.3.1	Initial conditions, s		52
		3.3.2	Cycle rate, $c(B)$		53
		3.3.3	Boundary conditions, $D(t)$		54
	3.4	Bone	blocks		54
	3.5	Analy	tic solution for $B(x,t)$		56
4	Met	thods			59
	4.1	Optim	isation methods		60
		4.1.1	Integral in solution for $B(x,t)$		60
		4.1.2	Error function		61
		4.1.3	Initial parameter estimation		61
			4.1.3.1 Bone growth rate, $v \ldots$		61
			4.1.3.2 Model parameters R and C	(t)	62
			4.1.3.3 Narrowing parameter range	s	62
		4.1.4	Fixed resolution optimisation		63
			$4.1.4.1$ Inclusion of spatial shifts, $s_{\rm s}$	8	64
			4.1.4.2 Fixed resolution optimisation	on routine	64
			4.1.4.3 Experiment for initial condi	tions, s	65
			4.1.4.4 Experiment for optimal mod	del parameters	65

	4.2	Statist	tical testing	66
5	Res	ults		37
	5.1	Initial	conditions, s	67
	5.2	Model	ling results	68
		5.2.1	Effect of ovx	78
		5.2.2	Effect of ovx+zol	79
			5.2.2.1 Cycle rate	80
			5.2.2.2 Boundary conditions	81
6	Dise	cussion	1 8	33
	6.1	Summ	ary of results	84
		6.1.1	Dominant consequence of ovx	84
		6.1.2	Dominant consequence of ovx+zol	85
			6.1.2.1 Remodelling parameters	85
			6.1.2.2 Boundary conditions	86
	6.2	Clinica	al implications	88
		6.2.1	$\rm BV/TV$ studies in growing animals $\hfill \ldots \hfill \hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots \hfill \hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots \hfill \hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots \hfill \$	88
		6.2.2	sham conditions	88
		6.2.3	ovx conditions	89
		6.2.4	Zoledronic acid treatment	89
			6.2.4.1 Dosing schemes and mechanical testing	90
	6.3	Limita	ations of the model	91

		6.3.1	Growth rate v	91
		6.3.2	Initial conditions	91
	6.4	Furthe	er work for this study	92
		6.4.1	Modelling parameters	92
		6.4.2	Experimental data	93
7	Sun	nmary	and concluding remarks	95
	7.1	Key fi	ndings	95
	7.2	Future	e research	96
	7.3	Outloo	ok	97
Bi	bliog	graphy		99
A	Dat	a supp	olementary	120
	A.1	Anima	al handling of inherited data	120
	A.2	μCT]	procedures	120
		A.2.1	Limitations of the data	121
	A.3	Prelin	ninary observations supplementaries	122
в	Mat	themat	tical modelling supplementary	125
	B.1			
		Prior	work: ODE temporal model	125
	B.2	Prior Deriva	work: ODE temporal model $\dots \dots \dots$ ation of the model for BV/TV $\dots \dots \dots$	125 126

List of Figures

1.1	Long bone structure	4
1.2	Chondro-osseous junction	5
1.3	Remodelling event carried out by a BMU	17
2.1	Examples of the selection of cancellous region for extraction of bone blocks	

2.1	Examples of the selection of cancenous region for extraction of bone blocks	
	along the medial axis including the leftmost image in the data window	
	1.2mm from the growth plate (left slice) and the far end of the bone block	
	4.7mm from the growth plate (right slice) at $t = 56$ for (a) a sham rat, (b)	
	an ovx rat, and (c) an ovx+zol rat. Dimensions of the square on images	
	are 120 $\times 120$ pixels (1.0529mm $\times 1.0529$ mm), though they appear to be	
	rectangles due to the aspect ratio of the axes. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	30
2.2	Extracted bone blocks	33
2.3	BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate, over time, for a single rat from each of the three groups.	36
2.4	BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate, over time, for all rats. Rows are according to time point. Columns are according to group.	37
2.5	Model 2.1 at $t = 0$ for all rats $\dots \dots \dots$	42
2.6	Model 2.2 for a single sham rat and an ovx rat	44
2.7	Model 2.3 for a single ovx $+zol$ rat	47

3.1	Location of experimental μ CT bone block in the proximal end of the tibia	55
5.1	Model for $B(x,t)$ for sham rats $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	71
5.2	Model for $B(x,t)$ for ovx rats $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	72
5.3	Model for $B(x,t)$ for ovx+zol rats	73
5.4	Distributions of optimal model parameter values for parameters that appear in $B(x,t)$ for all three groups, sham, ovx and ovx+zol	74
5.5	Distributions of optimal model parameter values for ovx and ovx+zol rats only.	75
5.6	Distributions of optimal model parameter values for ovx+zol rats \ldots .	76
5.7	Distributions of values for spatial shifts, ss, for each group	78
5.8	Distributions of optimal values for S_1 (sham,ovx,ovx+zol), S_2 (ovx,ovx+zol), S_3 (ovx+zol)	79
5.9	Distributions of optimal values for D_1 (all groups) and D_2 (ovx+zol)	80
A.1	Bone blocks at for a single rat from each group	123
C.1	Model for $B(x,t)$ for sham rats with initial conditions $s = 0.1$	132
C.2	Model for $B(x,t)$ for ovx rats with initial conditions $s = 0.1$	133
C.3	Model for $B(x,t)$ for ovx+zol rats with initial conditions $s = 0.1$	134
C.4	Distribution of parameter values with initial conditions $s = 0.1 \dots$	138

List of Tables

2.1	Mean \pm standard deviation BV/TV values in units (%) for all three groups	
	at three equidistant points along the metaphysis.	41
2.2	Mean \pm standard deviation slope correlation coefficient values \ldots .	41
2.3	Group mean \pm standard deviation additive constant values $b_{r,t}$ in units (%) for Model 2.2, for sham and ovx rats.	45
4.1	Parameter ranges	63
5.1	Parameter ranges for final stage of optimisation, $[a, b]$	69
5.2	Mean \pm standard deviation of optimal parameter values $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	70
5.3	P-values for testing that the distributions of the spatial shift values, <i>ss</i> , are the same between groups	77
A.1	P-values for testing the null hypothesis that values of m found for linear fits to $B_{r,t}(x) = mx + b$ are the same for sham and ovx groups for $t \ge 0$ and for ovx+zol for $t = 0, 14$.	122
A.2	P-values for testing the null hypothesis that group additive constants $b_{r,t}$ for Model 2.2 do not change over time for sham and ovx rats.	124
C.1	Optimal parameter values for each sham rat	135
C.2	Optimal parameter values for each ovx rat	136

C.3	Optimal	parameter values	for each	ovx+zol rat		137
-----	---------	------------------	----------	-------------	--	-----

Declaration

I certify that this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgement, any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university, and that to the best of my knowledge and belief it does not contain any material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text.

Brianna Martin

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by the Australian Postgraduate Award.

A heartfelt thank you to my supervisors Karen and Murk for enduring support and guidance. Thank you to Tara B, for unwavering generosity, patience, and awe-inspiring tenacity and gusto. Thank you to the bone/modelling community for assisting with domain knowledge and idea-sharing, especially Richard W, Peter P, David F, Egon P, and Pascal B. Thank you to friends and family for providing perspective and unconditional love - Dad, Mike, Alanna, Sue, Andrew, Patrick, Grandpa, Deb, Serena, Phil, Hannah, Denise, Carl, Rui Rui, Joy, Mel and Simon. Most importantly, thank you to the special four-leggeds for laughter and joy - Dippy Tutu, Spencer, Marshall, Sooty, Flossy, Mojo, Jaffar, Tigga, Arthur, and I suppose, even Pantaloon.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to Nobel Paws Prize laureate Desmond (my dog). Also to my dad for the provision of dad meals, dad advice, dad hugs, and for donations from Bank of Dad.

Nomenclature

growth plate	physis or ephiphyseal plate
(IL-1)	interleukin 1
AAP	Antiarrhythmic peptides
anabolic	bone building
apoptosis	programmed cell death
BMPs	bone morphogenetic proteins
BMU	bone multicellular units
chondro-osseous junction	region of growth plate where cartilage material is adjacent to bone material at the vascular front
chondroclast	osteoclast that sits on the surface of cartilage and some- times lacks a sealing zone and/or a ruffled border
chondrocyte	cartilage cell
CNP	C-type natriuretic peptide, a molecule that acts as a chon- drocyte growth factor in growth plate cartilage
diaphysis	long shaft of long bones
distal	far away from the growth plate
EGF	epidermal growth factor

endocrine factors	factors in blood
epiphyseal plate	growth plate or physis
epiphysis	end of long bone
FGF	fibroblast growth factor, a molecule involved in chondro- cyte proliferation
GH	growth hormone
hypertrophic	enlarged
IGF	insulin-like growth factor, a molecule involved in solid matrix synthesis in cartilage
IGF-1	type 1 insulin growth factor
Ihh	Indian hedgehog, a protein involved in chondrocyte dif- ferentiation, proliferation and maturity
matrix	cartilage or bone scaffold
medullary cavity	bone marrow cavity
metaphysis	region of bone between epiphysis and diaphysis
mitosis	acellular reproduction
NPPC	C-type natriuretic peptide, a molecule that acts as a chon- drocyte growth factor in growth plate cartilage
OI	osteogenesis imperfecta
OPG	osteoprotegerin
osseous material	bone material
osteoblast	bone forming cell

osteoclastogenic cells	osteoclast precursor cells
osteocyte	mechanosensory/regulatory bone cell
osteogenic cells	osteoblast precursor cells
physis	growth plate
primary ossification	prenatal ossification
primary spongiosa	region of metaphysis proximal to growth plate
proteoglycan	connective tissue protein
proximal	closer to the torso
РТН	parathyroid hormone, a hormone secreted by the para- thyroid gland in response to low blood serum calcium levels and binds to parathyroid hormone 1 receptor (PTH1R)
PTH1R	Type 1 parathyroid hormone receptor, a receptor that binds to both parathyroid hormone (PTH) and para- thyroid hormone like protein (PTHrP)
PTHrP	parathyroid hormone like protein
RANK	receptor for RANKL
RANKL	receptor activator for nuclear factor ligand
secondary ossification	postnatal lengthening of long bones
secondary spongiosa	region of metaphysis distal to growth plate
SOCS	suppressor of cytokine signalling 2, a family of proteins that down regulate growth hormone (GH) and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IFG-1)

Subchondral bone	bone in early stages of ossification that still contains more
	cartilage and mineralised cartilage material than bone
	material
$TGF-\beta$	transforming growth factor
transdifferentiate	change from one cell type to another
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor, a molecule involved in
	chondrocyte proliferation
Wnt	wingless/integrated proteins, a family of singalling pro-
	teins involved in endochondral ossification and bone re-
	modelling

Chapter 1

Introduction

To date, little is known about how bone remodelling is affected in growing animals. Of particular interest is the modification of remodelling processes under osteoporotic conditions and after treatments have been administered. The general aim of this project is to develop and explore mathematical models that describe bone remodelling processes in cancellous bone in growing animals. Mathematical strategies are combined with the use of longitudinal experimental data. The experimental data includes microcomputed CT (μ CT) scans of cancellous bone in the tibia of juvenile rats from three groups, including normal bone, oestrogen-deplete bone and oestrogen-deplete bone treated with bisphosphonates. The outcome is a model that explains the observed changes to bone volume fraction (BV/TV) over time for the experimental data. First a biological background is given to describe: long bone structure, bone growth, bone remodelling, and current treatment strategies for osteoporotic bone. This chapter concludes with an overview of the work carried out in this study.

1.1 Bone biology

Mammalian bone is a dynamic tissue that continues to change over time both in terms of volume and structure during growth, adulthood and old age (Seeman, 2008). Bone consists of cells embedded in a solid scaffolding, called a matrix that is made up of both organic materials and inorganic material. The inorganic matrix scaffold components make up the majority of the solid matrix, and are largely composed of the mineral calcium phosphate in the form of hydroxyl apatite crystals (calcium hydroxyapatite), and also contains a small amount of other salts that include potassium, magnesium, and sodium carbonate. The organic matrix scaffold components include mostly collagen but also proteoglycans and non-collagen proteins. The overall quality of bone is associated with bone mass, structure and internal architecture, and the ability to provide both structural strength for loading in addition to lightness for mobility (Seeman & Delmas, 2006; Seeman, 2008; Szule & Seeman, 2009).

1.1.1 Long bone structure

Long bones including the tibia and femur have a compact cortical bone outer layer, and have an internal medullary cavity (marrow cavity) that contains bone marrow which produces blood cells. A long bones consists of a main shaft called the diaphysis with an epiphysis at both ends, and metaphyseal bone between the epiphysis and diaphysis (Figure 1.1). The epiphysis is the region of bone that forms a joint which contains red bone marrow and produces red blood cells, and is covered in rubbery wear-resistant articular (hyleine) cartilage. Between the epiphysis and the metaphysis is the physis. The physis is also referred to as the ephiphyseal plate or the growth plate. The metaphysis consists of porous, spongy, cancellous bone that has trabecular architecture (Komarova, 2006). The region of the metaphysis closest to the torso of the body is termed proximal and the region furthest away is termed distal. Trabecular bone provides lightness and flexibility without greatly compromising structural strength (Fyhrie *et al.*, 1993, 1995). The density of the metaphyseal trabeculae is higher close to the growth plate and lessens further away from the growth plate.

Prenatally, long bone growth begins in the primary ossification centre located in the diaphysis. Postnatally and during adolescence, long bones elongate via endochondral ossification at the growth plate in the secondary ossification centre, at the epiphyseal ends. Endochondral ossification is the process whereby the synthesised mineralised hyaline cartilage at the growth plate acts as a scaffold and is replaced by osseous (bone) material. The growth plate is avascular cartilaginous material that is synthesised by chondrocytes. Chondrocytes are the only living cells in cartilage. The cartilage is made up of a synthesised solid matrix scaffold that surrounds the chondrocyte cells, which is predominantly made up of of collagen, proteoglycans and other proteins (Hunziker *et al.*, 2007). The rest of the space in the growth plate surrounding the solid matrix scaffold is occupied by interstitial fluid made up of water and soluble nutrients like glucose. The chondro-osseous junction is where the growth plate meets the metaphysis . A vascular front on the metaphyseal side brings bone cells to the growth plate to break down the calcified matrix scaffolding for bone replacement (Figure 1.2). The growth plate also has blood supply on the epiphyseal end. Within the growth plate, nutrient and endocrine molecules that play a role in endochondral ossification travel by diffusion. Additional molecules are produced locally by chondrocytes.

Next to the chondro-osseous junction is a layer of subchondral (beneath cartilage) bone in the metaphysis called the primary spongiosa. Subchondral bone is in the early stages of ossification and consists mostly of a calcified cartilaginous matrix scaffold with some deposited bone (Erben *et al.*, 1990). The subchondral bone next to the growth plate is sometimes referred to as the ossification zone. Further away from the growth plate in the methaphysis is the secondary spongiosa, where the calcified/mineralised cartilage matrix scaffold has been almost completely degraded and remodelled into cancellous bone (Kimmel & Jee, 1980). The density of trabecular bone in the metaphysis decreases as a function of distance from the growth plate (Gabet *et al.*, 2008). After cessation of growth in most mature mammals, the growth plate disappears. In rats however, the presence of the growth plate persists long after growth attenuates and possibly for the lifespan of the rat (Roach *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 1.1: Long bone structure (with permission from Open Stax College)



Figure 1.2: Chondro-osseous junction: the location where the growth plate meets the metaphyseal vascular front (with permission from Anatomy & Physiology, Open Oregon State)

1.1.2 Endochondral ossification

Growth of long bones via endochondral ossification occurs at different rates in different bones, at different epiphyseal ends of bones and even within the same epiphyseal plate over time (Wilsman *et al.*, 1996). Growth usually occurs in spurts. The peak skeletal dimensions in humans are reached around age thirty. This system is still not fully understood and much work has been done towards understanding the endochondral ossification processes in healthy, diseased, malnourished and injured organisms.

Chondrocytes in the growth plate cartilage are structured in zones (Lui *et al.*, 2014). Processes that occur within this system are influenced by factors that are produced in the growth plate locally and factors that are delivered by way of the endocrine (blood) system, all of which are affected by both mechanical strain/stress and biochemical agents. Mechanical influences have been tested experimentally using mechanical forces (Stokes *et al.*, 2006), and mathematically with models that include strain/stress parameters (Stokes *et al.*, 2006; Stevens & Beaupré, 1999; Henderson & Carter, 2002; Stevens *et al.*, 1999; Narváez-Tovar & garzon Alvarado, 2012). Various undesirable growth outcomes may eventuate, resulting from not enough mechanical strain or too much mechanical strain, or cyclical combinations thereof. The extensive experimental work carried out in vitro and in vivo to elucidate aspects of the system influenced by biochemical factors has been greatly aided by mathematical models include both mechanical and biochemical factors (Garzón-Alvarado *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.2.1 Growth plate dynamics

As long bones elongate during endochondral ossification at both epiphyseal ends, the new bone formed at the growth plate travels in a diaphyseal direction 'away' from the growth plate. The rates at which the newly formed bone travels, corresponds to the growth rate of the bone and to the overall growth rate of the organism's skeleton (Kimmel & Jee, 1980). The growth plate is organised in three regions termed 'zones' (Figure 1.2) according to the three types of chondrocyte cells that are embedded in the solid cartilage matrix scaffold (Lui *et al.*, 2014; Xian, 2014). Though the width of the growth plate and the time scale of growth plate evolution vary, the sequence of the chondrocyte life cycle is the same across all long bone growth plates (Wilsman *et al.*, 1996).

The *resting zone* is the layer of chondrocytes at the epiphyseal end, and is connected to the epiphyseal blood supply. The chondrocytes located here serve as inactive progenitor cells and have daughter cell cloning potential to proliferate via mitosis. The major component of the extracellular cartilage matrix scaffold at this layer is Collagen II.

The *proliferative zone* is characterised by rapid proliferation of the resting zone daughter chondrocyte cells. Growth factors are delivered by the ephiphyseal red blood supply to stimulate proliferation of the resting zone germinal chondrocyte cells that are furthest away from the ephiphysis, along a column in the orientation of the medial axis, as required by the system. The rate of proliferation is thought to play a major role in the rate of overall bone output and thus growth. Collagen II remains the major constituent of the solid cartilage matrix scaffold in this zone where solid matrix scaffold surrounds individual chondrocyte cells and also forms betweens columns of proliferative chondrocyte cells.

As the chondrocyte clones continue to proliferate along the column, the chondrocytes furthest from the epiphysis cease proliferation, undergo termination differentiation and become hypertrophic (enlarged) to form a layer known as the *hypertrophic zone*. This is the final layer of the growth plate, which is adjacent to the vascular front in the metaphysis, and represents the 'chondro' in chondro-osseous junction. The solid matrix cartilage scaffold that the hypertrophic chondrocytes are embedded in is mostly made up of Collagen X rather than Collagen II. Hypertrophic chondrocytes release matrix scaffold vesicles that facilitate calcification and some of the chondrocytes die during calcification (Wilsman *et al.*, 1996). The cartilage material that emerges from the hypertrophic zone includes unmineralised cartilage and mineralised matrix scaffold. At the vascular front on the metaphyseal side of the chondro-osseous junction, endocrinal molecules and clastic bone cells (osteoclasts and chondroclasts) are delivered for degradation of all of the unmineralised cartilage in addition to degradation of more than half of the mineralised matrix scaffold. The remaining mineralised cartilage matrix scaffold provides a template for formation of trabeculae performed by bone-forming (osteoblast) cells in the primary spongiosa at the chondro-osseous edge of the metaphysis.

There is still ongoing debate regarding the fate of the hypertrophic chondrocytes beyond the hypertrophic zone. Previously these cells were thought to all undergo apoptosis. Evidence continues to emerge that indicates a range of post-hypertrophic chondrocyte life cycle stages. Seemingly, some hypertrophic chondrocytes undergo apoptosis, some survive to transdifferentiate into osteoblast cells (Roach *et al.*, 2003), and some of the transdifferentiated osteoblast cells may either undergo apoptosis or become embedded in the primary spongiosal trabecular bone matrix scaffold and become (mechanosensing) osteocyte bone cells (Tsang *et al.*, 2015; Buenzli, 2015). Chondrocytes do not become hypertrophic in any other cartilaginous region of the body, except in osteoarthritic articular cartilage.

1.1.2.2 Local growth plate regulation

Many molecules are involved in the regulation of the evolution of the growth plate dynamics for the movement of chondrocytes through the resting, proliferative and hypertrophic zones, and solid matrix scaffold synthesis. The local regulatory system that has been most studied and which is considered to be the most important system for both prenatal and postnatal growth plate stability, is the feedback loop generated by a pair of substances called parathyroid hormone like protein (PTHrP) and Indian hedgehog (Ihh). Together, these substances control chondrocyte proliferation and hypertrophy (Lui *et al.*, 2014; Mizuhashi *et al.*, 2018). The PTHrP-Ihh dynamics prove extremely difficult to analyse experimentally, thus much of the work that has contributed to our understanding of how these molecules interact with each other has been provided by way of mathematical model testing (Browers *et al.*, 2006; Garzón-Alvarado *et al.*, 2009, 2011; Narváez-Tovar & garzon Alvarado, 2012; Stevens *et al.*, 1999; Stevens & Beaupré, 1999). PTHrP is a molecule that is similar to parathyroid hormone (PTH) in that they both bind to the same receptor (PTH1R) and they both share some functional characteristics. PTHrP has been observed in cartilage, mammary gland, bone and cancerous tissues. Ihh is a molecule that is synthesised by (pre-hypertrophic) chondrocytes in the proliferative zone and has only ever been observed in cartilage and bone tissues.

PTHrP diffuses through the growth plate from the ephiphyseal end, and is also synthesised by chondrocytes in the presence of Ihh expression. One of the effects of PTHrP is to promote proliferation of resting chondrocytes which causes them to enter the proliferative zone and PTHrP also promotes continued proliferation of chondrocytes that are already in the proliferative zone. PTHrP down regulates hypertrophic chondrocytes via inhibition of differentiation of proliferative chondrocytes into hypertrophic chondrocytes (Nishimori *et al.*, 2019). PTHrP can inhibit Ihh expression. Ihh also up regulates resting chondrocytes to enter the proliferative zone. Expression of Ihh is inhibited in the presence of expressed PTHrP. Ihh stimulates chondrocyte proliferation directly, and also indirectly by synthesising PTHrP. Increase in Ihh concentrations leads to increased PTHrP synthesis and thus PTHrP concentration.

The other chondrocyte-expressed molecule thought to play an important role in endochondral ossification are bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs). BMPs have a signalling gradient across the growth plate with a high concentration observed in the hypertrophic than in the resting zone (Lui *et al.*, 2014; Perry *et al.*, 2008). Chondrocyte-expressed BMPs are thought to have effect on the cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis of bone cells that are delivered at the metaphyseal vascular front (Garimella *et al.*, 2008).

Some of the other known paracrine and autocrine signalling factors within the growth plate include insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), wing-less/integrated proteins (Wnt), vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs), transforming growth factor (TGF- β), epidermal growth factor (EGF), C-type natriutic peptides (CNPs or NPPCs), and suppressor of cytokine signalling 2 (SOCS)(Xian, 2014; Lui *et al.*, 2014; Perry *et al.*, 2008; Modi *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.2.3 Vascular front

Further biochemical molecules with regulatory roles in growth plate evolution are delivered to the growth plate via the vascular front. Some of these endocrinal signals include thyroid hormone, androgens, glucocorticoids, type I insulin growth factor (IGF-1), oestrogens and growth hormone (GH). How all of these additional endocrine signalling molecules interact with the local autocrine/paracrine signalling system within the growth plate is not fully understood (Lui *et al.*, 2014).

At the metaphyseal vascular front, bone cells are delivered to degrade and shape the emerging cartilage scaffold and to deposit bone (Walzer *et al.*, 2014). In addition to the above endocrine factors, bone cells produce further local regulatory cytokines into the system as they carry out remodelling of the emerging growth plate material. There are also endocrine factors that specifically influence the ensuing bone cell activity during the remodelling process. Bone remodelling is a process that occurs throughout the skeleton, throughout the organism's life, and will be explained in further detail for non-growth-plate-bone in Section 1.1.3. Whilst a comprehensive explanation of each cytokine factor affecting the bone cells is beyond the scope of this work, the number of factors alone give indication of the additional level of complexity that is integrated into this system for replacement of cartilage with bone. Some important factors include: hormonal parathyroid hormone (PTH), cytokines receptor activator for nuclear factor ligand (RANKL) and its receptor RANK, osteoprotegerin (OPG), Wht signalling pathways, and both growth factors transforming growth factors (TGF- β), and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1).

1.1.2.4 Bone cells

There are two types of bone cells involved in replacing the mineralised cartilage with bone. The first type of bone cell is a 'clastic' cell, which have a macrophage lineage and are responsible for resorbing cartilage and bone material. The two most well studied clastic cells are osteoclasts and chondroclasts. Chondroclasts are thought to be osteoclasts that sit on the surface of cartilage (Odgren *et al.*, 2016). The second type of cell is the osteoblast cell, having mesenchymal stem cell lineage, and being responsible for formation of bone (Matsuo & Irie, 2008). These two types of cells are tightly co-regulated and exactly how all of the cellular processes are involved in remodelling remains unclear. Co-regulation of osteoclasts and osteoblasts is sometimes referred to as the 'coupling phenomenon', and is influenced by the surrounding environment, systemic factors, and

by paracrine signalling communication between these cells (Garimella *et al.*, 2008; Erben, 1995).

Osteoclastogenesis involves the fusion of mononucleated osteoclast precursor cells (sometimes referred to as osteoclastogenic cells) that are derived from macrophage haemopoeitic tissue, to form large multinucleated osteoclast cells. There are several stages of osteoclastogenesis including recruitment, differentiation and precursor fusion, and finally functional activation (Cappariello et al., 2014; Väänänen et al., 2000). Osteoclasts have two roles. The first role of osteoclasts is to degrade hypertrophic cartilage. The second role of osteoclasts is to degrade bone, which requires dissolution of hydroxapatite. Hypertrophic cartilage is only located within the growth plate in healthy bone, however hypertrophic chondrocytes are also located in osteoarthritic articular cartilage. Once osteoclasts are activated at the metaphyseal vascular front, they resorb the emerging hypertrophic cartilage to create a trabecular cartilage scaffold in the primary spongiosa. Precursor osteoclasts can also interact with osteoblast precursors (osteogenic cells). As the calcified matrix scaffold is resorbed and reshaped by the activated osteoclasts, osteoblasts subsequently deposit bone and mineralise the trabecular bone scaffold. In this region the cancellous bone is composed predominantly of collagen I and hydroxyappatite (Rezende *et al.*, 2017). As the cancellous bone continues to travel away from the growth plate, the osteoclasts and osteoblasts carry out bone remodelling in the secondary spongiosa for optimised structure according to mechanical, biochemical and pharmacological conditions.

The active resorbing osteoclast has a ruffled border for secretion of acid, which is formed within a sealing zone. The sealing zone acts to confine the acidification molecules that are released through the ruffled border for demineralisation of collagen/bone materials (Touaitahuata *et al.*, 2014). Some studies have shown that osteoclasts without the ruffled border and/or sealing zone are still able to resorb the unmineralised component of bone (known as osteoid, the organic element of the bone), and thus are able to degrade the hypertrophic cartilage that emerges from the growth plate (Ralte *et al.*, 2011). Further work has shown that in some circumstances, osteoclasts can still remove calcified cartilage without the sealing zone function and the demineralisation function. Where mineral

dissolution is usually carried out by acid secretion at the ruffled border of osteoclasts, release of active proteases appear to suffice for osteoclasts to be able to degrade calcified cartilage. This may be attributed to the calcified cartilage structure being less stiff than bone, having a higher level of hydration than bone, and having a structure with a more 'loose' interaction between cartilage and minerals (Touaitahuata *et al.*, 2014).

In one study, where osteoclasts have had their ability to form a sealing zone 'knocked out', the hypertrophic cartilage scaffold has still been sufficiently degraded (Touaitahuata *et al.*, 2014). However, the trabecular bone scaffold that had been laid down by osteoblasts has not been sufficiently degraded in the primary and secondary spongiosa. In this scenario, the resulting cancellous bone structure that emerges in the secondary spongiosa has been reported as being far more dense than that seen in cancellous bone that is undergoing endochondral ossification under normal conditions.

1.1.2.5 RANK-RANKL-OPG

OPG-RANK-RANKL together form a fundamental cytokine system that is widely considered to be essential for regulation of the coupling between osteoblasts and osteoclasts for carrying out remodelling in the primary and secondary spongiosa, and in fact, for all bone remodelling that occurs throughout the skeleton. This local signalling system is influenced by PTH, calcitonin, TGF- β , interleukin 1 (IL-1), and oestrogens. The RANKL/OPG ratio is commonly used in mathematical modelling as the central determinant of bone remodelling outcome (Komarova *et al.*, 2003; Ryser *et al.*, 2010; Turner, 1999; Lotinum *et al.*, 2003; Komarova, 2006, 2004).

RANKL (ligand) is expressed by osteoblasts and binds to the RANK receptor on osteoclast precursors to simulate maturation of osteoclast precursors (Alliston & Derynck, 2002). This is a necessary process for osteoclastogenesis. In the absence of RANKL, bone resorption cannot occur normally. RANKL also binds to RANK receptors on mature osteoclasts to stimulate resorption (Teitelbaum, 2000). OPG is expressed by osteoblasts and osteoblast stromal cells, and acts as a RANKL decoy to prevent RANK-RANKL binding. The OPG decoy binding serves to inhibit osteoclast maturation and osteoclast resorption. OPG-RANK activity causes osteoclast resorption at a remodelling site to pause so that osteoblasts can deposit bone.

PTH also stimulates osteoclastogenesis and osteoclast resorption activity by binding to cell-surface receptors on osteoblasts to stimulate osteoblast-expressed RANK. There are also reports that PTH has caused a reduction in osteoblast apoptosis (Jilka *et al.*, 2007). The overall effects of PTH can vary. Intermittent PTH concentration can have an anabolic outcome (bone building), and continuous concentration can have a pro-resorptive outcome (Trichilo *et al.*, 2019; Komarova, 2004).

TGF- β increases formation by directly affecting osteoblast differentiation and can also increase OPG expression. There are special calcium sensing receptors that also signal to increase PTH concentration, for increased resorption when calcium levels are low. PTH is known to activate osteoclastogenesis in absence of osteoblasts, and has been shown to inhibit osteoclastogenesis in cultures that contain both osteoblasts and osteoclasts by decreasing expression of osteoblast-expressed RANKL. TFG β is another important factor in maintaining balance between resorption and formation due to having an influence on lineages of both osteoclasts and osteoblasts (Yau *et al.*, 2006).

1.1.2.6 Oestrogen

Oestrogen predominantly acts on osteoblast cells, and alters expression of osteoblast expressed RANK and OPG to suppress bone resorption and to stimulate bone formation. Oestrogen both increases OPG concentration and decreases RANKL concentration. Oestrogen can also stimulate osteogenesis in osteoblasts precursor cells, and can prevent osteoblasts from undergoing apoptosis (Börjesson *et al.*, 2013). Oestrogen has been demonstrated to cause different effects on growth rates, depending on the age that oestrogen levels change, and there is evidence that oestrogen can both slow or increase the rate of growth, and reduce overall growth (Börjesson *et al.*, 2013; Boyce *et al.*, 2014). In early puberty, applied oestrogen caused an increase in growth spurts and growth was overall enhanced, yet oestrogen applied in late puberty had the opposite effect, causing early fusion of the growth plate. Growth plate growth factors PTHrP and IL-1 may also

affect osteoblast expressed RANKL to increase osteoclast activity.

There are a few other less critical molecules that have been shown to influence remodelling processes. Osteoclasts may be able stimulate bone formation directly through expression of BMPs (Garimella *et al.*, 2008). BMPs are potentially important for the recruitment, proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts at remodelling sites. Improvement of gap junction intercellular communication may also affect the regulation of coupling between osteoblasts and osteoclasts (Jorgensen *et al.*, 2004). Gap junction channels are pores through which cells can communicate by coordinating signals and responses to hormones. Anti-arrhythmic peptides (AAP) enhance conductivity between gap junctions, and they have been found to demonstrate specific binding to osteoblasts. Leptin-regulated neural pathways also promise an important role in the regulation of bone cell coupling by altering RANKL expression to increase or dampen resorption (Elefteriou *et al.*, 2004).

1.1.3 Bone remodelling

Bone remodelling occurs throughout the skeleton during growth in both cortical and trabecular bone, and continues after growth ceases for the lifespan of the organism. There are two types of remodelling, *targeted* remodelling and *random* remodelling. Targeted remodelling provides a mechanism for repair to micro-damage, and adaptation to external loading conditions (Martin, 2008; Ruimerman *et al.*, 2005; Chow *et al.*, 1998; Parfitt, 2002). This type of remodelling is both temporally and spatially specific such that particular sites are targeted for bone restoration or load-dependent change. In contrast, random remodelling occurs at supposedly random sites to ensure that every part of the 'old' skeleton gets replaced with 'new' bone periodically. Random remodelling helps to maintain the integrity of the skeleton (Komarova *et al.*, 2003). In the human skeleton, roughly ten percent of bone mass is replaced every year by random remodelling (Alliston & Derynck, 2002). Possibly, random remodelling may not be strictly random. The probability of random remodelling events could be related to the age of the bone (Parfit, 2002). Also, as old bone is resorbed for new bone replacement, minerals are released and random remodelling is important for calcium homeostasis. Calcium is an important signalling molecule throughout the body.

Targeted and random remodelling are carried out by the same two bone cells that remodel the collagen and bone material in the primary spongiosa next to the growth plate, namely osteoclasts and osteoblasts. These cells are also coupled and use the same autocrine and paracrine RANK-RANKL-OPG system to conduct remodelling, and form what is known as 'basic multicellular units' (BMUs). For these processes, a third bone cell is involved, the osteocyte, which is said to have a mechanosensory role towards signalling for the initiation and possibly also the cessation of a remodelling event. Osteocytes may also have an important role in endochondral ossification, though this is not well understood. For a remodelling event, once the signal for repair takes effect, osteoclasts are recruited to excavate a resorption cavity and then osteoblasts subsequently fill in the cavity with new bone to create a new osteon, the basic structural unit of cortical bone or a new hemi-osteon, the basic structural unit of cancellous bone (Figure 1.3).

After a remodelling event, some osteoblasts undergo apoptosis, and some osteoblasts become embedded in small lacunae (cavities), within the newly formed cellular matrix (ichi Nakahama, 2010). After undergoing morphological modification, the embedded osteoblasts become osteocytes. Osteocytes are capable of intercellular cytoplasmic communication via extensive canaliculi (canal networks) which connect radiating lacunae within the bone matrix (Burger & Klein-Nulend, 1999; Buenzli & Sims, 2015). Communication between osteocytes is most likely to be predominantly via gap junctions between adjacent osteocytes (Matsuo & Irie, 2008).

Osteocyte cells are thought to detect both micro-damage and deformation (Lanyon, 1993). Under the conditions of micro-damage, apoptosis of osteocytes at the damage site could signal the need for repair (Fyhrie & Schaffler, 1995). Under external changes to loading condition, osteocytes act as mechanosensors via their sensitivity to small fluid shear stresses caused by deformation (Weinbaum *et al.*, 1994; Lanyon, 1993; Huiskes *et al.*, 2000). One of the mechanisms reported for detection of fluid flow is via primary cilia projected from the osteocyte cell surface (Malone *et al.*, 2007). Osteocytes are said to signal for adaptation to external loading in response to both increased and decreased impact-loading, and to immobilisation (Young *et al.*, 1986; Courteix *et al.*, 1998; Muller,

2005).

With age, disruption to bone remodelling can occur over time and skeletal disorders such as osteoporosis and osteoarthritis are commonly seen in the elderly population (Bilezikian *et al.*, 2009). Bone density and structural quality deteriorate due to loss of trabecular mass, leading to risk of fragility fractures (Tsangari *et al.*, 2006; Lane *et al.*, 2003). In particular, women in the early years following menopause suffer from bone loss due to oestrogen deficiency. Oestrogen deficiency predominantly causes elevated rates of remodelling, and also causes a negative imbalance between resorption and formation during individual remodelling events. (Tsangari *et al.*, 2006).

1.1.3.1 In vitro, in vivo and in silico testing

As with the remodelling system situated in the primary spongiosa, the remodelling of bone is very difficult to analyse experimentally. In vitro observations do not always translate to observed in vivo dynamics. Though bone is dynamic, the time scale makes resolution of the dynamics very challenging. Often, morphometric and histomorphometric methods for analysing remodelling parameters in vivo have been carried out and reported, based on the tacit assumption that the modelling parameters are uniform throughout the metaphysis.

Historically, the vast majority of studies investigating architectural changes over time in animal models have been cross-sectional by design. Animals are sacrificed at strategic time points, and analysis is performed in vitro via histology. This approach is limiting due to variation between animal cohorts and cohorts under different experimental treatments. Thus large numbers of animals are required. Most histologically derived remodelling parameters that are reported assume that the parameters are uniformly distributed throughout the trabecular structure by definition (Parfitt *et al.*, 1983, 1987). Such an assumption is particularly problematic for parameters that are dynamic and derived from static indices. Consequently, studies that use formula-derived indices to characterise trabecular structure have to rely on the assumption remodelling processes


Figure 1.3: Remodelling event carried out by a BMU (Reproduced with permission from Massachusetts Medical Society). First the osteoclast cells (green) break down and remove bone material during bone resorption, and then osteoblast cells (blue) subsequently deposit new bone. After cessation of a remodelling event, some osteoblast cells will undergo apoptosis, and some will become embedded in the bone matrix to become osteocyte cells.

are uniform throughout the trabecular structure (Wronski *et al.*, 1989; Brouwers *et al.*, 2008; Li & Wronski, 1995). With the advent of μ -CT technology, new non-destructive longitudinal methods are made possible for assessing three-dimensional structures (Boyd *et al.*, 2006). However, for time-course studies, structural attributes are still usually averaged over a single large region of bone to study remodelling processes rather than reporting the attributes for several sub-sections of bone for viewing attributes as functions of distance relative to growth plate (Perilli *et al.*, 2009; Boyd *et al.*, 2006; Browers *et al.*, 2006).

Another approach to characterising metabolic activity is the use of biochemical bone turnover markers (Štěpán *et al.*, 1987; Clowes *et al.*, 2002; Reginster *et al.*, 2007; Cremers & Garnero, 2006; Russell *et al.*, 2008; Seeman, 2009; Brown *et al.*, 2009; Fleisch, 1998; Nyman *et al.*, 2004; Riggs & Parfitt, 2005; Brouwers *et al.*, 2008; Evans *et al.*, 2003). Bone turnover markers are proteins found in blood or urine which are released during metabolic activity. These proteins act as quantitative non-invasive measures of changes to either resorption or formation rates. Biochemical markers are therefore unable to give any information about local changes. Further, turnover markers are considered to be proven useful only on account that their presence in blood or urine always correlates well with what is described as the 'actual rate' of turnover an histologically-derived dynamic parameter that is also based on the assumption of parameter uniformity (Cremers & Garnero, 2006).

Mathematical modelling Much of the current understanding of remodelling and BMU dynamics has come from extensive mathematical modelling contributions. Bone remodelling is multifaceted and multiscale, and a full survey of mathematical modelling studies is beyond the scope of the thesis, though a few of the important works deserve mention. There have been several reviews of mathematical modelling in this area, extending to studies that test outcomes at the biochemical or tissue scale, and at the mechanical and larger tissue scale (Pivonka & Komarova, 2010; Martin, 1985; Komarova, 2006).

Local cellular processes have been modelled to investigate remodelling at the level of the BMU (Buenzli *et al.*, 2013, 2011; Ryser *et al.*, 2010; Komarova *et al.*, 2003; Lemaire

et al., 2004; Turner, 1999; Martin & Buckland-Wright, 2004; Alias & Buenzli, 2018; Tkachenko et al., 2009; Piekarski & Munro, 1977; Ioana Pastrama et al., 2018; Schulte et al., 2013; Komarova, 2004). These modelling studies describe BMU dynamics with explicit representation of important bone cells like osteoclasts, osteoblasts and ostocytes. Typically, models developed at the cellular scale include Michaelis-Menten mass action kinetics for concentrations of bone cells and are often presented in systems of ordinary differential equations (ODEs). Models that describe cell population dynamics have been able to investigate some of the signalling pathways in this system, including interactions between signalling molecules RANK, RANKL, and OPG. Another key feature for modelling these processes at the cellular scale, is the ability to describe spatial arrangement of the BMU over time.

Many efforts have been made towards modelling the larger scale mechanics that plays a role in bone remodelling (Weinbaum *et al.*, 1994; Cowin *et al.*, 1991; Cowin & Wienbaum, 1998; Cowin, 2007; Mi *et al.*, 2005; Weinan & GRootenboer, 1992; Mullender & Huiskes, 1997; Huiskes *et al.*, 1997, 2000; Mullender *et al.*, 1994; Prendergast *et al.*, 1997; Ruimerman *et al.*, 2005; Turner, 1999; Geris *et al.*, 2009; van der Meulen *et al.*, 2006; Guo & Kim, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2009; Fyhrie & Schaffler, 1995; Levenston, 1997; Stulpner *et al.*, 1997; Coelho *et al.*, 2009; Burr *et al.*, 1985; Cowin, 2005; SIFFERT *et al.*, 1996). Large scale mechanics have been included in models to investigate the role of local stresses on bone remodelling. These models help to identify the effects of mechanical forces on the adaptation and maintenance of the skeleton, and allow for testing of mechanosensory mechanisms that induce changes to the remodelling machinery. Finite element models have been instrumental towards testing the relationship between applied loading and structural changes to trabecular architecture.

Some mathematical models combine local cellular processes with mechanosensory parameters or lager scale dynamics (Wimpenney & Moroz, 2006; Buenzli *et al.*, 2011; Pivonka *et al.*, 2013; Scheiner *et al.*, 2013; Weinbaum *et al.*, 1994; Tayyar *et al.*, 1999; Ruimerman *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2011; Scheiner *et al.*, 2010; van Oers *et al.*, 2007). These multiscale approaches have helped to provide a link between the effects of mechanical forces and the resulting complex remodelling processes that allow the trabecular architecture to adapt to loading conditions and to repair microdamage.

A few other areas of bone remodelling that have been aided by the development of mathematical models include the role of nutrient transport (Piekarski & Munro, 1977; Scheiner *et al.*, 2010); bone regeneration and fracture healing (Adam, 1999, 2002; Geris *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Ambard & Swider, 2006; Chow *et al.*, 1998; Reed *et al.*, 2002; Perren, 1979; Carter, 1987; Carter *et al.*, 1998; Henderson & Carter, 2002; Stevens *et al.*, 1999; Ament & Hofer, 2000; Bailon-Plaza & Meulen, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2009; Muller, 2005; Shefelbine *et al.*, 2005; Claes & Heigele, 1999; Prendergast *et al.*, 1997; Dickson *et al.*, 2007; Mastrogiacombo *et al.*, 2007; Cornea *et al.*, 2005); and the relationship between cancer and remodelling in the bone microenvironment (Wang *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.4 Bone loss and treatments

Treatments for bone loss and osteoporosis fall into two categories, *anabolic* and *anti-resorptive* (sometimes referred to as *anti-catabolic*). So far PTH is the most successful anabolic treatment, due to a bone-building effect on osteoblast cells via the OPG-RANK-RANKL system (Girotra *et al.*, 2006). Oestrogen has also been investigated for use as an anabolic agent, due to having a similar effect to PTH via the OPG-RANK-RANKL system. However the systemic effects of oestrogen throughout the body result in too many negative side effects that offset the desirable anabolic effects in the bone microenvironment. Work is currently being done to investigate a locally administered oestrogen dosing regiment. In addition to PTH and oestrogen, other agents under study for potential anabolic treatments include strontium ranelate GH, IGF-1 and bFGF.

1.1.4.1 Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates are currently the leading class of anti-resorptive drugs for the treatment of bone loss and osteoporosis, and are widely used for diseases that are associated with elevated resorption or malignancy in both growing and mature patients (Nancollas *et al.*, 2005). Bisphosphonates are used to treat patients for paediatric osteoporosis and juvenile osteoporosis, and secondary osteoporosis that is associated with bone disorders such as junior Paget's disease, osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), malabsorption syndromes, corticosteroid-dependent asthma and neuromuscular disorders, or from steroid medication (Russell *et al.*, 2008; Muderis *et al.*, 2007; Boyce *et al.*, 2014; Silverman, 2011; Kumar *et al.*, 2016). Bisphosphonates are also used to treat mature patients with osteoporosis caused by oestrogen deficiency, implant integration, age related bone loss, and also to treat metastatic and osteolytic bone disease, and hyperglycaemia of malignancy (Tenta *et al.*, 2006; Silverman, 2011; Coleman, 2010; Carvas *et al.*, 2010; Khosla & Hopbauer, 2017; Lupion *et al.*, 2018). The pharmacological mechanism of action of bisphosphonates is still not completely understood (Cremers *et al.*, 2019; Holstein, 2019).

Effects on bone remodelling Bisphosphonates are known to reduce the number of BMUs activated for remodelling, thus reducing the overall rate of remodelling (Riggs & Parfitt, 2005; Allen, 2018). In situations where bisphosphonate suppression of BMU activation frequency is too great or prolonged, accumulated damage may increase (Seeman, 2009, 2003; Seeman & Martin, 2019; Visekruna et al., 2008). Bisphosphonates also decrease the resorption volume to create a positive bone balance for a given remodelling event (Seeman & Delmas, 2006). In addition to inhibiting resorption, some studies indicate a pro-formation effect for bisphosphonates, by way of osteoblastogenesis and increasing the proliferation of osteoblast cells (Fleisch, 1998; Bukowski et al. , 2005). Bisphosphonates are internalised by osteoclast cells. As new evidence continues to merge, there are a growing number of proposals for the cellular mechanisms that cause suppression of osteoclastic function and bone resorption. Some of the mechanisms responsible include: direct inhibition of osteoclast differentiation; indirect effect on osteoclast by enhancing inhibitory signals in osteoblasts; induced apoptosis in osteoclasts; inhibition of calcification; inhibition of osteoclast precursors; disruption to trafficking of proteins/membranes; inhibition of the ability for osteoclasts to attach to bone; disruption to the formation of the osteoclasts's ruffled border; and disruption to the osteoclast cytoskeleton to inhibit activation (Nyman et al., 2004; Ralte et al., 2011; Tenta et al., 2006; D'Amelio et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2013; Russell et al., 2008).

Effects on endochondral ossification There are two types of bisphosphonates, nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates and non-nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates, and these two types are known to reduce resorption via different enzyme pathways. The effects of bisphosphonates on resorption during growth are still incompletely understood (Rezende *et al.*, 2017). Both nitrogenated and non-nitrogenated have been shown to disrupt endochondral ossification (Evans *et al.*, 2003; Rezende *et al.*, 2017), and both are known to negatively affect osteoblast and osteoclast processes in the primary spongiosa, though with slightly different outcome. Zoledronic acid is the most commonly used bisphosphonate for treatment of bone loss, which is a third generation nitrogen-containing bisphosphonate with high potency. Some studies have shown that zoledronic acid may slow growth or stop growth altogether (Schenk *et al.*, 1986; Reitsma *et al.*, 1980; Pataki *et al.*, 1997; Hornby *et al.*, 2003; Erdogan *et al.*, 2019).

Hypertrophic cartilage Several studies have reported that in nitrogenated bisphosphonate treated animals, the resorption of calcified hypetrophic cartilage had been significantly inhibited during endochondral ossification, and that the calcified cartilage was found to persist in the secondary spongiosa (Rezende *et al.*, 2017; Rao *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, non-nitrogenated bisphosphonates have been described as 'chondoprotective' in osteoarthritic hyaline articular cartilage (She *et al.*, 2017; Shirai *et al.*, 2011). Non-nitrogenated bisphosphonates may prevent the degradation of articular joint cartilage by inhibition of osteoclast resorption activity and of osteoclasts that are located in the subchondral bone adjacent to the cartilaginous material (Shirai *et al.*, 2011).

Osteoclast number and activity Rezende *et al.* (2017) reported that the expression of both RANK and OPG decreased in nitrogenated bisphosphonate treated bone compared to normal bone. Surprisingly, Rezende *et al.* (2017) also found that number of osteoclasts in the primary spongiosa and secondary spongiosa was still high, thus concluding that nitrogenated bisphosphonates do not necessarily down-regulate the recruitment or differentiation of osteoclasts. However, the osteoclasts that were present in this region were identified as latent, due to inhibited osteoclast activation and osteoclast function. Ralte *et al.* (2011) reported similar findings. Both the number and the size

of osteoclasts actually increased in zoledronic treated secondary spongiosal bone. The osteoclasts were similarly unable to resorb bone due to a smaller (defective) ruffled border. Here, the smaller ruffled border was reported as being absent in osteoclasts that were sitting on cartilaginous surfaces which either means that the osteoclasts were either not able to resorb hypertrophic cartilage, or that the osteoclasts were able to resorb the hypertrophic cartilage without the border by way of proteases.

PTHrP Tenta *et al.* (2006) reported that one of the observed effects of zoledronic acid in vitro was the suppression of PTHrP. If zoledronic has the ability to suppress PTHrP at the growth plate, the consequence could be down regulation of chondrocyte proliferation, or up regulation of chondrocyte hypertrophy. If zoledronic acid has the ability to suppress PTHrP at the growth plate via the vascular front, this could possibly also result in an alteration to the expression of RANK towards decreasing osteoclast function.

Cancellous bone Significantly dense trabecular bone has been observed in the secondary spongiosa, in most bisphosphonate treated animals during endochondral ossification (Hornby et al., 2003; Rezende et al., 2017; Ralte et al., 2011). Drastic changes to bone density as new bone material is ossified at the growth plate under bisphosphonate treatment potentially creates fracture risk at the point where very dense bone sharply meets the less dense bone that had emerged earlier, prior to treatment. Several studies have seen the emergence of what are termed 'zebra lines' (Muderis et al., 2007) during endochondral ossification in bisphosphonate treated children and animals (Schenk et al., 1973; Muderis et al., 2007; Biggin et al., 2014; Ishizuka et al., 2017; Corsi et al., 2017). Zebra lines describe the elevated bone density of the emerging bone according to bisphosphonate dosing regimens, where there are sharp increases in density of tibial bone closest to the growth plate soon after the time of treatments. In between bisphosphonate treatments, the bone emerges from the primary spongiosa with normal (lower) density. One of the considerations for treating children with bisphosphonates, is to reduce injection-trauma by adopting less frequent, high-dose injection schemes. The slerotic zebra lines could pose a risk for fractures at the locations where there are sharp density gradients and may be eradicated with more frequent, low dose injections. Some studies have reported the detection of zoledronic acid in children as long as eight years after discontinuation of treatment (Boyce et al., 2014).

1.2 Thesis overview

The mathematical modelling carried out for this work is described at the tissue scale and is thus nested in between mechanical and cellular scales. Historically, mathematical models have been developed for several of the aspects considered in this study independently, including models for endochondral ossification (Section 1.1.2) and remodelling (Section 1.1.3.1), however most of what is known about the effects of bisphosphonates on cancellous bone in growing cohorts is by way of in vitro and in vivo experimental work. Conclusive evidence is lacking, and most work in this area is based on histological analysis of bone tissue. There is a sense of urgency for a better understanding of bisphosphonate treated growing bone, as bisphosphonates are currently the mainstay for treating osteoporosis in children and juveniles.

1.2.1 Thesis objectives

The work conducted in this study aims to construct a simplified partial differential equation (PDE) model for BV/TV in terms of bone remodelling parameters, and to optimise model parameters over longitudinal experimental data. The experimental data includes μ CT scans of cancellous bone in the secondary spongiosa for juvenile rats from three groups including sham-operated rats (sham), ovariectomised rats (ovx) and ovariectomised rats treated with zoledronic acid (ovx+zol). This combined approach will be implemented to investigate the effects of ovx and ovx+zol on bone remodelling processes in growing bone.

More specifically, the research focus for this study includes the following objectives:

• to briefly describe BV/TV observations in the experimental data qualitatively, as a function of distance relative to the growth plate;

- to briefly investigate changes to experimental BV/TV over time within each group and to compare BV/TV over time between groups;
- to develop a mechanistic PDE model for BV/TV in growing rats, in terms of coupled BMU remodelling events at the tissue scale;
- to optimise model parameters by fitting the analytic solution of the PDE model for BV/TV to the experimental BV/TV data; and
- to identify the dominant effects of ovx and ovx+zol on bone remodelling parameters in growing rats.

1.2.2 Structure of the thesis

An overview of the experimental rat data used for this study is given in Chapter 2. The structure of material in the primary spongiosa which is adjacent to the growth plate is predominantly composed of hypertrophic cartilage, and this material cannot be resolved with current μCT scanning technology. Consequently, for this study, the volume of interest begins farther away from the growth plate where the bone transitions from primary spongiosa to secondary spongiosa. The secondary spongiosa of the tibial metaphysis in rats is widely used to study changes to remodelling processes over time and the rat is considered an appropriate animal model for human bone (Wronski & Liang, 1999; Li & Wronski, 1995). Also included in Chapter 2, is a brief summary of preliminary observations that were made for BV/TV in the experimental data. Supplementary material for early BV/TV observations is provided in Appendix A. In Chapter 3, a novel approach is presented for investigating the basic relationship between BV/TV of growing bone and bone remodelling at the level of the BMU, in terms of fundamental remodelling parameters. Here, a PDE model is derived to describe the change in BV/TV throughout the secondary spongiosa over time, according to the rate of bone remodelling, and coupled bone resorption and bone formation. The model is developed at the tissue scale only. No effort was made to describe the cellular dynamics that lead to individual remodelling events, nor the mechanical strains that influence these processes. The model for BV/TV is a spatial extension to ordinary differential equation (ODE) models that were developed prior to this study. These models are summarised in Appendix B. The full analytic solution that was derived for the construction of the final model for BV/TVis given in Appendix B. Chapter 4 details the methods of optimisation that were implemented for identifying values of the model parameters which best describe BV/TVobservations in the experimental data. The model parameters were found by applying optimisation methods for comparison of BV/TV model predictions against BV/TV in the experimental data. The model results are presented in Chapter 5. Supplementary figures and tables for results presented in Chapter 5 are provided in Appendix C. In Chapter 6, a review of the results is presented including the dominant effects of ovx and ovx+zol on bone remodelling, clinical implications, model limitations, directions for future research, and a discussion of open questions which require additional in vivo and in silico testing. A final summary is presented in Chapter 7.

Chapter 2

Data

Experimental data for this project consisted of μ CT data collected as part of a larger longitudinal study on cortical and cancellous bone structure (Perilli *et al.*, 2009; Fazzalari *et al.*, 2012; Gontar *et al.*, 2018; Martin & Bottema, 2015). A group of thirty juvenile Sprague-Dawley rats aged roughly 8 weeks, were randomly assigned to three experimental groups of ten rats each.

- Ten rats were given a bilateral ovariectomy causing an oestrogen deficiency (ovx group);
- 2. Ten rats were given a bilateral ovariectomy, then given weekly treatments of bisphosphonate Zoledronic acid beginning fourteen days after surgery (ovx+zol group);
- 3. Ten rats were used as a control and underwent a sham surgery to simulate exposure to surgical conditions. They were opened up but not ovariectomised (sham group).

Throughout, time will be measured in days from the time of the event of the surgery, t = 0. μCT scans of the proximal tibia were performed at t = 0, immediately after surgery, and at t = 14, 28, 56, and 84. One ovx rat and two ovx+zol rats died prior to μCT scanning at t = 84 (Appendix A.1). Handling of the animals and the associated μ -CT procedures were carried out prior to this study and the details can be found in Appendix A.2.1.

2.1 Post-processing of μCT data

For this study, the inherited raw reconstructed data were extracted from a larger data set and prepared as binarised volumes. From here on out all further methods are presented as original work, as conducted for the purpose of this study. All computations were carried out using the scientific computing package in MATLAB[©].

2.1.1 Bone block extraction

For each of the rats and each time point, a block of $121 \times 121 \times 400$ voxels (1.0529mm \times 1.0529mm \times 3.4808mm) comprising proximal cancellous bone was selected manually from the reconstructed data, at resolution of $0.0087 \times 0.0087 \times 0.0087 \text{mm}^3$ per voxel. This was the largest volume that could be extracted consistently over all samples without including cortical bone. These $121 \times 121 \times 400$ voxel arrays (1.0529mm \times 1.0529mm \times 3.4808mm) will be referred to as *bone blocks*. The bone block was extracted from from roughly the same location for each rat, nominally along the medial axis, positioned 138 μ CT slices (1.2mm) from the edge of the growth plate. While this protocol sufficed to identify the same general location within the tibia, voxel by voxel alignment could not be reproduced consistently. In rats, the bone transitions from primary spongiosa to secondary spongiosa 0.756mm-1.188mm from the growth plate (Kimmel & Jee, 1980), placing the extracted bone blocks in the secondary spongiosa. Secondary spongiosal bone in rats has an average age of at least 7 days.

For convenience, from here on out, the orientation of the medial axis will be considered as horizontal, where 'left' refers to the end of the metaphysis that is close to the growth plate and 'right' refers to the end of the metaphysis further away from the growth plate. The bone blocks were selected manually to find an axis of length 400 slices so that the square of size 121×121 pixels situated on the axis fit within the cancellous bone for each slice, starting at slice 138 slices to the right of the growth plate (Figure 2.1). The edge of each bone block that is closest to the growth plate is approximately 1.2mm from the growth plate, and the length of each bone block extends to approximately 4.7mm from the growth plate.



Figure 2.1: Examples of the selection of cancellous region for extraction of bone blocks along the medial axis including the leftmost image in the data window 1.2mm from the growth plate (left slice) and the far end of the bone block 4.7mm from the growth plate (right slice) at t = 56 for (a) a sham rat, (b) an ovx rat, and (c) an ovx+zol rat. Dimensions of the square on images are 120×120 pixels (1.0529mm ×1.0529mm), though they appear to be rectangles due to the aspect ratio of the axes.

2.1.2 Binarisation

A single global threshold was determined using Otsu's method (Otsu, 1978), which is a standard process for identifying an optimal threshold to separate bimodal two-class data, usually for binarisation of greyscale images or for image segmentation. Otsu's method was used to binarise three cross-sections of the extracted bone blocks along the vertical/horizontal axes for 3 rats from each group at t = 0 and at a later time point after which all of the experimental treatments took effect at t = 56. Preliminary results showed this sampling method to be robust. The mean binarisation threshold value was found to be 0.233 ± 0.0463 thus the global threshold value was taken to be 0.233 (23%).

2.1.3 Morphological filtering

Experiments were conducted to investigate the use of morphological filtering for the removal of isolated artefacts that appeared in the bone blocks after the binarisation step, and to eliminate any other imperfections or distortion due to noise (Serra, 1982). BV/TV of the largest connected component was compared to the sum of the BV/TV of all the components for the following:

- binarised bone blocks;
- binarised bone blocks after performing morphological closing and opening with a structuring element, comprising a cube with all values equal to one, of size $3 \times 3 \times 3$ voxels; and
- binarised bone blocks after performing morphological closing and opening with a structuring element, comprising a cube with all values equal to one, of size $5 \times 5 \times 5$ voxels.

The use of a structuring element comprising a cube of size $5 \times 5 \times 5$ voxels returned overall BV/TV values that were much greater than the original BV/TV the original binarised bone blocks. Further, the use of a structuring element cube of size $5 \times 5 \times 5$ voxels resulted in a lessened volume of the components that were not connected to the largest

component. Thus a structuring element comprising a cube of size $3 \times 3 \times 3$ voxels was considered best, and was used for morphological closing then opening of the binarised bone blocks. Components with volume less than 1000 voxels were also removed from the bone blocks to reduce noise.

The final bone blocks were binarised using a single threshold 0.233 (23%) with morphological closing then opening applied using the $3 \times 3 \times 3$ structuring element, to arrive at the binary three-dimensional bone blocks of size $121 \times 121 \times 400$ voxels. Example bone blocks are displayed for t = 0, 28, 84 in Figure 2.2, and bone blocks for all time points are displayed in Appendix A (Figure A.1).

2.2 Experimental data analysis

In rats, tibial metaphyseal cancellous bone displays decreasing BV/TV with distance from the growth plate (Gabet *et al.*, 2008; Weber *et al.*, 2002). The trabecular structure is more dense closer to the growth plate compared to cancellous bone further away from the growth plate. Exactly how the BV/TV gradient changes over time has not been reported in detail. Longitudinal (temporal) changes to BV/TV are generally measured and reported with the assumption that changes to BV/TV are the same throughout the volume of interest. Usually only a single BV/TV value is reported for any given time-point.

Prior to developing models to describe the mechanistic changes that drive the BV/TV changes seen in the data, some preliminary observations were made by inspection of the relationship between BV/TV and the distance from the growth plate over time in the juvenile growing rats. An effort was made to understand BV/TV as a function of distance from the growth plate, rather than reporting an exhaustive list of BV/TV values that extend throughout the volume of interest.

The objectives for these early observations are as follows:



Figure 2.2: Extracted bone blocks at t = 0, 28, 84 for sham (row 1); ovx (row 2); and ovx+zol (row 3).

- to qualitatively describe BV/TV as a function of distance from the growth plate
- to describe changes to BV/TV over time for each experimental group, and to compare BV/TV over time between groups
- to use results from observations towards informing the development of a mechanistic model for BV/TV

2.2.1 BV/TV

BV/TV was calculated for each cross-sectional slice of the bone blocks by simply dividing the amount of bone present by the area of the bone block slice (121×121 pixels).

The mean \mp standard deviation for BV/TV values are displayed for each group, at three equidistant points along the metaphysis in Table 2.1. BV/TV values asymptotically approach zero for all rats. In particular, the ovx group has very low BV/TV for later time points in metaphyseal bone furthest from the growth plate. By t = 28, at 4.42mm from the growth plate, some of the ovx rats have metaphyseal BV/TV values less than 1%; by t = 56 some of the ovx rats have BV/TV values less than 3% for metaphyseal bone beginning around 2.95mm from the growth plate; and by t = 56 some of the ovx rats have BV/TV values less than 1% for metaphyseal bone beginning 2.95mm from the growth plate (Table 2.1). In regions where BV/TV values fall below 5%, the BV/TV values become highly varying due to the sparseness of the bone. Accordingly, only BV/TV values above 5% were included for this preliminary work.

One of the features of BV/TV values seen in ovx+zol rats, is that by t = 84, some of the values at a distance 2.95mm from the growth plate are higher than the BV/TV values in the metaphyseal bone observed in the sham rats at a distance 4.42mm from the growth plate (Table 2.1). Also by t = 84, for the ovx+zol rats, BV/TV values at the midpoint of the data, 2.95mm from the growth plate, are generally higher than the sham rat BV/TV values, 4.42mm from the growth plate (Table 2.1).

BV/TV values $\geq 5\%$ are displayed against distance from the growth plate for all time points, for a single rat from each group in Figure 2.3 and for all rats in Figure 2.4.

2.2.2 Methods for BV/TV curve fitting

For all rats at t = 0, casual inspection revealed that the BV/TV as function of distance from the growth plate is nominally linear (Figure 2.4). Further inspection showed that BV/TV as a function of distance from the growth plate is nominally linear for sham and ovx rats at all time points, and for ovx+zol at t = 0 and t = 14, but that ovx+zol BV/TV curves appear to deviate significantly from linear for t = 28, 56, 84.

To quantify these observations, simultaneous linear regression was performed on BV/TV as a function of distance from the growth plate for all rats at all time points. Regression analysis was performed to fit polynomials of degree 1 for BV/TV as a function of distance from the growth plate for each rat r at each time point t, of the form

$$B_{r,t}(x) = mx + b.$$
 (2.1)

To test the null hypothesis that the group slope correlation coefficients are same for first order polynomial fits for all groups at t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84, t-tests were performed for correlation coefficient values between a) sham and ovx values; b) between sham and ovx+zol values; c) between ovx and ovx+zol values; and c) between the pooled sham/ovx values and ovx+zol values.

Residual analysis demonstrated that zol rat BV/TV values could not be modelled well by polynomials of degree 1 at times t > 14 but could be modelled well by polynomials of degree 1 for sham and ovx at all time points and for ovx+zol for t = 0, 14.

Further inspection indicated that the slope m in Equation 2.1 remains the same for the first degree polynomial models for sham and ovx rats at all time points, and for



Figure 2.3: BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate (GP) in mm, for a single sham rat (left); a single ovx rat (middle); and a single ovx+zol rat (right) at times t = 0 (black); t = 14 (brown); t = 28 (green 36t = 56 (red); and t = 84 (blue).



Figure 2.4: BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate (GP) in mm for all rats. Rows are according to time for t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84. Columns are according to group. Column 1 includes mean \pm standard deviation BV/TV values for sham (blue), ovx (red) and ovx+zol (green); column 2 includes all sham rat BV/TV values; column 3 includes all ovx rat BV/TV values; and column 4 includes all ovx+zol rat BV/TV values.

ovx+zol rats at t = 0 and t = 14. Table A.1 displays the p-values for testing the null hypothesis that the values of m remain the same between these groups and time points. A common m for all time points indicates that the gradient of the BV/TV curves remains constant over time and that the only change to the curves over time, if any, are shifts upwards/downwards by an additive constant. The common common rate of decrease, m_c , was taken to be the average rate of decrease for the above linear regression values found for Equation 2.1 over all thirty rats at t = 0.

2.2.2.1 sham and ovx

After finding the common rate of decrease, m_c regression was again carried out for all sham and ovx rats for a polynomial model of degree 1, with fixed m_c , and varying only b (additive constant) for each rat r at each time point t. The model for $B_{r,t}(x)$ for all sham and ovx data, is of the form

$$B_{r.t}(x) = m_c x + b_{r,t},$$
(2.2)

where $b_{r,t}$ is the additive constant found for each rat r at each time point t.

Several experiments were conducted to investigate trends for $b_{r,t}$ over time for both the sham rats and the ovx groups. T-tests were performed to test the following null hypotheses:

- 1. For sham rats, $b_{r,t}$ values remain constant over time;
- 2. For ovx rats, $b_{r,t}$ values remain constant over time; and
- 3. There is no difference over time between sham rat $b_{r,t}$ values and ovx rat $b_{r,t}$ values.

2.2.2.2 ovx+zol

Results from the initial stage of regression analysis indicated that for the ovx+zol group, the curves that describe BV/TV as functions of distance from the growth plate are not well modelled as polynomials of degree 1. In light of the local increase observed near the growth plate, an effort was made to quantify the non-linear ovx+zol rat BV/TV curves. Beginning at t = 28, the plots of BV/TV values for ovx+zol rats appear to be nonlinear close to the growth plate, but remain linear further away from the growth plate. Thus an additional model was applied to the ovx+zol BV/TV curves composing of the sum of a sigmoid and a polynomial degree 1 curve as follows,

$$B_{r,t}(x) = \frac{c}{1 + e^{\alpha(x-\beta)}} + m_c x + b_{r,t},$$
(2.3)

for t = 28, 56, 84 where m_c is the same common slope found for all rats at t = 0 and $b_{r,t}$ is the additive constant associated with the linear region for each rat r at time t.

To investigate trends seen for $b_{r,t}$ t-tests were performed to test the following null hypotheses:

- 1. For ovx+zol rats, $b_{r,t}$ values remain constant over time;
- 2. There are no differences over time between $b_{r,t}$ values for ovx+zol rats and sham rats; and
- 3. There are no differences over time between $b_{r,t}$ values for ovx+zol rats and ovx rats.

The location of the inflection points for Equation 2.3 were identified for t = 28, 56, 84 in each of the ovx+zol rats. Here, the inflection point is defined as the location where the second derivative of the model for $B_{r,t}(x)$ changes sign. Linear regression was applied to the three inflection points as functions of time for each ovx+zol rat to find the average rate of change for the distance travelled by the inflection points over time for each ovx+zol rat. These results yielded an average speed for the local increase in BV/TV values that advances away from the growth plate in each of the ovx+zol rats, thus giving an indication of the rate that new bone emerges due to endochondral ossification in each rat.

2.2.3 Results

Results for testing that the correlation coefficients for the slope in Model 2.2 are the same for the sham and ovx rats and the ovx+zol rats can be found in Table 2.2. All of the slope correlation coefficients for sham and ovx rats over all time points in addition to the slope correlation coefficients for ovx+zol at t = 0, 14 were pooled and tested against the pooled slope correlation coefficients for a) ovx+zol rats at t = 28, 56, 84; b) and ovx+zol rats at t = 56, 84; and also tested against slope correlation coefficients for ovx+zol rats at t = 84. The p-values for all of these t-tests were returned as p < 0.001.

The common rate of decrease that was taken to be the average rate of decrease for the above regression values found for Equation 2.1 over all rats at t = 0, was found to be $m_c = -0.109 \pm 0.023$. Model 2.1 curves are displayed for t = 0 over the raw BV/TV data for all rats in Figure 2.5.

2.2.3.1 sham and ovx rats

Model 2.2 curves for a single sham rat and a single ovx rat are displayed in Figure 2.6.

The average group $b_{r,t}$ values for the sham and ovx $b_{r,t}$ values from Model 2.2 are displayed in Table 2.3. Also provided in Table 2.3 are the p-values for testing that $b_{r,t}$ values do not change over time within an experimental group, for both sham rats and ovx rats. P-values are given for testing the $b_{r,t}$ values within each group for each time-point $t \ge 14$ against the group baseline $(t = 0) b_{r,t}$ values. Additional p-values are displayed for testing the $b_{r,t}$ values within a group for each time-point $t \ge 28$ against the previous time point. A full list of p-values for testing $b_{r,t}$ values between all time-points within the group, for both the sham and ovx rats can be found in Table A.2 in Appendix A. In Table 2.6, p-values are also provided for testing that $b_{r,t}$ values are the same between the sham and ovx rats for each time point $t \ge 0$.

		$\mathrm{BV/TV}~(\%)$						
	Dist (mm)	t = 0	t = 14	t = 28	t = 56	t = 84		
sham	1.45	$57.0 {\pm} 6.6$	57.3 ± 5.6	$63.3 {\pm} 6.5$	$63.3 {\pm} 9.1$	64.9 ± 7.4		
	2.95	40.2 ± 4.9	$47.0 {\pm} 6.7$	47.5 ± 7.3	47.5 ± 5.7	$45.8 {\pm} 9.0$		
	4.42	25.7 ± 3.6	$32.8 {\pm} 7.5$	$32.0 {\pm} 9.9$	$32.0 {\pm} 9.0$	$31.5 {\pm} 10.2$		
OVX	1.45	$61.3 {\pm} 7.9$	$42.6 {\pm} 7.0$	39.2 ± 9.8	$33.4{\pm}11.9$	$26.4 {\pm} 9.9$		
	2.95	45.3 ± 8.8	$32.1 {\pm} 6.8$	21.3 ± 10.6	$10.5 {\pm} 7.8$	$6.8 {\pm} 6.3$		
	4.42	$29.8 {\pm} 8.0$	$20.6 {\pm} 7.1$	8.1 ± 7.8	$0.9 {\pm} 0.8$	$1.2{\pm}1.1$		
ovx+zol	1.45	$56.6 {\pm} 5.8$	44.5 ± 5.4	$79.8 {\pm} 10.4$	$88.6 {\pm} 8.0$	$91.5 {\pm} 4.7$		
	2.95	$40.6 {\pm} 6.5$	$35.8 {\pm} 8.5$	36.7 ± 11.4	47.9 ± 18.5	$58.9 {\pm} 22.9$		
	4.42	26.2 ± 8.2	20.7 ± 8.5	$29.0{\pm}10.9$	30.5 ± 9.1	27.8 ± 13.6		

Table 2.1: Mean \pm standard deviation BV/TV values reported in units (%) for all three groups at three equidistant points along the metaphysis, at distances 1.47mm from the growth plate (left), 2.95mm from the growth plate (middle), and 4.42mm from the growth plate (right), at t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84.

Group A:	Group B		p-value
-0.101 ± 0.029	(a) ovx+zol $t = 28, 56, 84$	-0.201 ± 0.058	< 0.0001
	(b) ovx+zol $t = 56,84$	-0.224 ± 0.052	< 0.0001
	(c) ovx+zol $t = 84$	-0.236 ± 0.055	< 0.0001

Table 2.2: Mean \pm standard deviation slope correlation coefficient values for Group A: pooled ovx, sham, ovx $t \ge 0$ + pooled ovx+zol t = 0, 14; and Group B: pooled ovx+zol rat values for a) t = 28, 56, 84; b) pooled ovx+zol rat values for t = 56, 84; and c) ovx+zol rat values at t = 84. P-values are given for testing that average correlation coefficient values are the same for Group A and Group B, using student's independent t-test.



Figure 2.5: Model 2.1 curves superimposed over raw BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate, at t = 0, for all rats.

sham For the sham rats, $b_{r,t}$ values generally did not change over time, however there was a slight increase in $b_{r,t}$ values at t = 56 (p = 0.024) (Table 2.3).

ovx T-test results indicate that over time, the BV/TV values for the ovx rats decrease throughout the metaphysis by an additive constant compared to the ovx rat baseline $b_{r,t}$ values. However results are less conclusive for testing the ovx $b_{r,t}$ values for any given time step $t \ge 28$ against the previous time step (Table 2.3). These results could be influenced by the fact that there was significant loss of ovx cancellous bone beginning t = 28 for values of x further away from the growth plate and the resulting spatial resolution was thus much lower for modelling ovx BV/TV values with Equation 2.2. There were also fewer ovx rat $b_{r,t}$ values for t = 84, as one of the ovx rats died before the final μCT scan.

T-test results indicate that the ovx $b_{r,t}$ values are less than the sham $b_{r,t}$ values for all t > 0.

2.2.3.2 ovx+zol

Model 2.2 curves for ovx+zol BV/TV values for t = 0, 14, and Model 2.3 curves for ovx+zol BV/TV values for $t \ge 28$ are both displayed in Figure 2.7.

Results for t-tests for ovx+zol $b_{r,t}$ values were inconclusive for both $b_{r,t}$ values over time within the ovx+zol group, and for comparison to $b_{r,t}$ values of other experimental groups. There are a few factors that may have influenced these results, including the aforementioned poor spatial and temporal resolution for ovx BV/TV data. Two ovx+zol rats also died prior to μCT scanning at t = 84. The advancing BV/TV increase travels so far away from the growth plate, that by t = 84, the spatial resolution of the ovx+zol rat BV/TV



Figure 2.6: BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for a single rat over time from the sham group (top) and from the ovx group (bottom). The raw data is shown by the markers, where t = 0 is represented by circles, t = 14 by squares, t = 28 by diamonds, t = 56 by hexagram, and t = 84 by upward-pointing triangles. Superimposed over the raw data are the curves modelled by Equation 2.2

	Group average additive constants $b_{r,t}$ for all time points					
	t = 0	t = 14	t = 28	t = 56	t = 84	
sham	(N = 10) 73.0 ± 4.8	(N = 10) 78.1 ± 6.1	(N = 10) 78.2 ± 7.0	(N = 10) 79.5 ± 6.8	(N = 10) 79.1 ± 8.6	
*		*p = 0.048		*p = 0.024		
OVX * **	${f ({ m N}=9)}\ 77.6\pm 8.1\ { m (N=9)}$	(N = 10) 64.5 ± 6.1 (N = 10) *p = 0.0001	$\begin{array}{l} ({\rm N}=10)\\ 54.4\ \pm 9.2\\ ({\rm N}=10)\\ {}^{*}{\rm p}<0.0001\\ {}^{**}{\rm p}=0.016 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} ({\rm N}=10)\\ 47.0 \pm 9.7\\ ({\rm N}=10)\\ {}^{*}{\rm p} < 0.0001 \end{array}$	$egin{aligned} ({ m N}=8) \ 42.9\pm 8.6 \ ({ m N}=8) \ *{ m p} < 0.0001 \end{aligned}$	
sham, ovx	p > 0.05	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	

Table 2.3: Group mean \pm standard deviation additive constant values $b_{r,t}$ in units (%) for Equation 2.2, for sham rats and ovx rats, for each time point, t = 0, 14, 28, 56; and p-values for testing the null hypothesis that group average additive constants for sham and ovx groups are the same at each time point t. Only p-values < 0.05 are reported. Longitudinal study: * indicates p-values for testing the null hypothesis that group $b_{r,t}$ values for the given time point are the same as the the group baseline (t = 0) $b_{r,t}$ values within the same experimental group; and ** indicates for testing the null hypothesis that group $b_{r,t}$ values for a given time point within a group are the same as the group $b_{r,t}$ values for the previous time point within the same experimental group.

data available is also significantly reduced for the polynomial degree 1 component of the Model 2.3.

The results for tracking the inflection point over time in the ovx+zol data for the Model 2.3, yielded an average speed 0.023 ± 0.018 mm/day.

2.2.4 Conclusion

The conclusion of the preliminary study is that changes to BV/TV act consistently over the region studied, in that decreases could be modelled well as being constant as functions of distance from the growth plate for sham rats and ovx rats for $t \ge 0$ and for ovx+zol rats for $t \le 14$. For t > 14, the ovx+zol rats display changes in BV/TV values that are not constant as functions from the growth plate. Thus the effect of treatment by zoledronic acid is not consistent as a function of distance from the growth plate. This observation motivated the modelling in Chapter 3.



Figure 2.7: Model 2.3 curves superimposed over raw BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate over time, for a single ovx +zol rat. The raw data is shown by the markers, where t = 0 is represented by circles, t = 14 by squares, t = 28 by diamonds, t = 56 by hexagram, and t = 84 by upward-pointing triangles. Superimposed over the raw data are the curves modelled by Equation 2.2 for t = 0, 14 and by Equation 2.3 for $t \ge 28$.

Chapter 3

Mathematical model for BV/TV

A mathematical model is presented to describe the changes to BV/TV over distance relative to the growth plate that occur over 84 days in juvenile rats from the sham, ovx and ovx+zol groups. In this study a PDE spatial extension is applied to the temporal ODE model developed by Fazzalari *et al.* (2012).

3.1 Prior work

The model developed by Fazzalari *et al.* (2012) characterises the effects of remodelling processes on the local volume and structure of cancellous bone.

The model comprises a temporal ordinary differential equation for BV/TV over time coupled with simulations of individual remodelling events. The model was validated on a smaller volume of interest, taken from the experimental data described in Chapter 2. The region of experimental data chosen for this work extends from 1.2mm below the growth plate to 2mm below the growth plate. The simplest form of the model is

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = c(B)\left(f(B) - R\right) \tag{3.1}$$

where c(B) is the number of remodelling events per unit time, f(B) is the formation volume per remodelling event and R is the resorption volume per remodelling event. For the region of experimental data selected in this study the surface area is proportional to $B^{2/3}$, allowing surface area to be modelled as a function of BV/TV, thus 18 models were considered for c(B) and f(B) each being linearly dependent on BV/TV, surface area or being independent of the amount of bone present. Only models that predict convergence of B(t) to finite positive values were considered, reducing the 18 models to 3 which are described in Appendix 3.1.

The results for sham and ovx were in agreement with the current understanding of bone remodelling in adult rats. However, results for ovx+zol indicated that the changes seen in the cancellous bone could not be described by remodelling alone in bisphosphonate treated juvenile rats. This observation motivated the development of the spatio-temporal PDE model that was constructed for this study. BV/TV will now be viewed as dependent on both time and the location relative to the growth plate.

3.2 Spatial extension

For simplicity, and for the purpose of modelling, let the growing bone be viewed as 'emerging during growth' and then continuing to 'travel away from the growth plate'. Also, suppose that the only changes to BV/TV over time, are due to remodelling events with coupled bone resorption and formation at the BMU level. Now, let B(x,t) represent the amount of bone, BV/TV, at some position x relative to the growth plate, at time t. As in Equation 3.1, let R represent average resorption volume per remodelling event with units (mm³day⁻¹); f(B(x,t)) represent average formation volume per remodelling event, viewed as an unknown function of B(x,t), with units (mm³event⁻¹); let c(B(x,t))represent the number of remodelling events per unit BV/TV per unit time, also viewed as an unknown function of B(x,t) with units (events mm⁻³day⁻¹); and let v be a constant velocity with which bone 'emerges' during growth.

Over time increment Δt , bone moves away from the growth plate with velocity v, at a distance $x = v\Delta t$. Bone previously at position x moves away from this location and so represents a loss of bone with BV/TV B(x,t). Bone previously at position $x - \Delta x$

moves to position x during time increment Δt , and also undergoes remodelling according to Equation 3.1 during time increment Δt . Thus the new bone at position (x, t) has BV/TV given by

$$B(x - \Delta x, t) + c(B(x - \Delta x, t) [f(B(x - \Delta x, t) - R] \Delta t.$$

Hence the net change in BV/TV at x is given by

$$\Delta B = -B(x,t) + B(x - \Delta x, t) + c(B(x - \Delta x, t) [f(B(x - \Delta x, t) - R] \Delta t)]$$

The time difference quotient is

$$\frac{\Delta B}{\Delta t} = \frac{B(x - \Delta x, t) - B(x, t)}{\Delta t} + c(B(x - \Delta x, t) \left[f(B(x - \Delta x, t) - R)\right].$$

Since $\Delta x = v \Delta t$,

$$\frac{\Delta B}{\Delta t} = -v \frac{B(x - \Delta x, t) - B(x, t)}{\Delta x} + c(B(x - \Delta x, t) \left[f(B(x - \Delta x, t) - R) \right]$$

Taking
$$\lim_{\Delta t \to 0}$$
, and thus $\lim_{\Delta x \to 0}$, yields
$$\frac{\partial B(x,t)}{\partial t} = -v \frac{\partial B(x,t)}{\partial x} + c(B(x,t) \left[f(B(x,t) - R) \right].$$

In reduced notation, the simplest form of the model becomes

$$B_t + vB_x = c(B)(f(B) - R),$$
 (3.2)

where the change in BV/TV per unit time at a distance x relative to the growth plate is given by the difference between the average formation volume and the average resorption volume during a single remodelling event, multiplied by the number of active remodelling sites per unit time per unit bone volume. With the same criterion as in section 3.1, only three models that predict B(x,t) to converge to a finite positive value for fixed t were considered further, again reducing the number of possible models to three, presented in section B. Here, bone remodelling is considered to be *random remodelling*, as experimental conditions did not change over time (Appendix A).

3.3 Model for BV/TV

Since the three models investigated by Fazzalari *et al.* (2012) yielded results with the same trends in effects of ovx and ovx+zol on modelling parameters f(B), R, and c(B), Model B.4 (Appendix 3.1) was chosen on the basis of being the simplest both mathematically and in terms of physical interpretation, where $f(B) = \frac{F}{c(B)}$, c(B) = C(t)B(t).

There are two main goals considered in the development of a simple, mechanistic model for BV/TV. The first goal is to test the hypothesis that the effect on coupled bone remodelling due to both ovx and ovx+zol is to alter the cycle rate. The second goal is to test the hypothesis that there is an additional effect of ovx+zol, to alter processes that occur outside the domain of the experimental data.

The model for BV/TV, B.4 is

$$\frac{1}{v}B_t + B_x = \frac{1}{v}(F - C(t)RB(t))$$
(3.3)

$$B(0,t) = D(t).$$
 (3.4)

3.3.1 Initial conditions, s

The model allows x = 0 to be viewed as the 'effective point of formation', modelled as an unknown location between the chondro-osseous junction at the growth plate and the metaphyseal bone to the left of the window of experimental data. The initial condition
for x = 0 is considered to be the location where coupled bone resorption and formation remodelling processes begin in emerging bone. Thus coupled remodelling occurs in bone $x \ge 0$ and continues as the bone travels away from the growth plate. The effective point of formation is included in the numerical implementation of the model as parameter s. The parameter s for the effective point of formation is difficult to define and may span over a small region, where this region may change slightly over time and may be different for any given rat. To address this uncertainty, an additional parameter is introduced during the optimisation process (Section 4.1.4.2).

3.3.2 Cycle rate, c(B)

A well known effect of oestrogen deficiency on bone remodelling in adult rats, is an increase in the rate of remodelling (Section 1.1.3). This effect was observed in prior work. Results from Fazzalari *et al.* (2012) suggest that one of the effects of ovx is an increase in c(B) compared to the sham group. Also well known, is that the dominant effect of bisphosphonates on bone remodelling is a reduction in the rate of remodelling due to inhibition of osteoclast resorption (Section 1.1.4.1).

To test that the effect of the ovx and ovx+zol in growing rats is to alter the cycle rate, a sigmoidal function is introduced in Equation 3.5) to model the change in proportionality term C(t) as a function of time according to effects of ovx, and ovx+zol. C(t) models C_1 for for all rats prior to the t = 0 ovariectomy and for sham rats for all time; C_2 for the effect of the t = 0 ovariectomy in ovx and zol rats; and C_3 for the effect of bisphosphonate treatments in zol rats for $t \ge 14$.

$$C(t) = \frac{C_1 + C_3}{2} + \frac{C_2 - C_1}{2} \tanh\left(\lambda_1(t - J_1)\right) + \frac{C_3 - C_2}{2} \tanh\left(\lambda_2(t - J_2)\right), \quad (3.5)$$

where λ_1 adjusts the rate at which the effect of the ovariectomy on cycle rate manifests, and J_1 is the time lag of this effect. λ_2 adjusts the rate at which the effect of the bisphosphonate on cycle rate manifests, and J_2 is the time lag of this effect.

3.3.3 Boundary conditions, D(t)

Results from Fazzalari *et al.* (2012) showed that the changes to cancellous bone in the metaphysis in growing juvenile rats could not be modelled by remodelling processes alone. Preliminary observations made in this study (Section 2.2.3.2), also indicated that BV/TV increases significantly locally near the growth plate, compared to BV/TV observations throughout the metaphysis further away from the growth plate.

To allow for the possibility of an additional effect of ovx+zol on BV/TV local to the growth plate that cannot be explained by coupled remodelling, boundary conditions, D(t), are introduced in Equation 3.6.

$$D(t) = \frac{D_2 + D_1}{2} + \frac{D_2 - D_1}{2} \tanh(\eta(t - K)).$$
(3.6)

Equation 3.6 describes the observed change in BV/TV at the left edge of the experimental data window, in bone emerging from the growth plate. For sham and ovx rats, BV/TV at the boundary is modelled as constant, with parameter D_1 . For the ovx+zol rats, a sigmoidal function is presented to model the change in the BV/TV as a function of time, allowing for BV/TV to shift from D_1 , and asymptotically approach a second constant, D_2 . Parameter η adjusts the rate at which the effect of ovx+zol on emerging BV/TV manifests, and K is the time lag of this effect.

3.4 Bone blocks

Figure 3.1 gives a rough indication of the location where the bone blocks were extracted from in the proximal tibial cancellous bone, with initial conditions, s. The medial axis of the tibia is represented along the horizontal axis of the figure. For display purposes, the figure is shown in two dimensions, however the bone blocks have volume $1 \times 1 \times 3.5$ mm³,



Figure 3.1: Location of experimental μ CT bone block (yellow) in the proximal end of the tibia. A (grey): epiphysis, B (cyan): growth plate, C (magenta): primary spongiosa, D (white): secondary spongiosa, E (yellow): bone block extending 1.2mm-4.7mm from the edge of the growth plate, shown in two dimensions, 1×3.5 mm², F: initial conditions, s (x = 0) viewed as being at an unknown location prior to parameter optimisation. Figure is not shown to scale.

3.5 Analytic solution for B(x,t)

The following constants are introduced to reduce the notation

$$A = \frac{F}{v}, \ P = \frac{R(C_1 + C_3)}{2v}, \ Q_1 = \frac{R(C_2 - C_1)}{2v}, \ Q_2 = \frac{R(C_3 - C_2)}{2v}.$$

The PDE becomes

$$\frac{1}{v}B_t + B_x = A - PB - Q_1 \tanh(\lambda_1(t - J_1))B -Q \tanh(\lambda_2(t - J_2))B,$$

$$B(0,t) = D(t)$$
(3.7)
(3.8)

The full derivation and notation can be found in section B.2.

A full analytic solution to Equation 3.7 is given by

$$B(x,t) = D(t - x/v)e^{-Px} \left(\frac{e^{\lambda_1(t-x/v-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1(t-x/v-J_1)}}{e^{\lambda_1(t-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1(t-J_1)}}\right)^{Q_1v/\lambda_1} \times \left(\frac{e^{\lambda_2(t-x/v-J_2)} + e^{-\lambda_2(t-x/v-J_2)}}{e^{\lambda_2(t-J_2)} + e^{-\lambda_2(t-J_2)}}\right)^{Q_2v/\lambda_2} + \frac{Ave^{-Pvt} \int_r^{s/v+r} e^{Pvy} \left(e^{\lambda_1(y-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1(y-J_1)}\right)^{Q_1v/\lambda_1} \left(e^{\lambda_2(y-J_2)} + e^{-\lambda_2(y-J_2)}\right)^{Q_2v/\lambda_2} dy}{\left(e^{\lambda_1(t-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1(t-J_1)}\right)^{Q_1v/\lambda_1} \left(e^{\lambda_2(t-J_2)} + e^{-\lambda_2(t-J_2)}\right)^{Q_2v/\lambda_2}}.$$
(3.9)

For ovx rats

$$Q_2 = \frac{R(C_3 - C_2)}{2v} = 0 \text{ since } C_2 = C_3; \text{ and}$$
$$D(t) = \frac{D_2 + D_1}{2} + \frac{D_2 - D_1}{2} \tanh(\eta(t - K)) = D_1 \text{ since } D_1 = D_2 \text{ thus}$$

$$B(x,t) = D_1 e^{-Px} \left(\frac{e^{\lambda_1 (t-x/v-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1 (t-x/v-J_1)}}{e^{\lambda_1 (t-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1 (t-J_1)}} \right)^{Q_1 v/\lambda_1} + \frac{Av e^{-Pvt} \int_r^{s/v+r} e^{Pvy} \left(e^{\lambda_1 (y-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1 (y-J_1)} \right)^{Q_1 v/\lambda_1} dy}{\left(e^{\lambda_1 (t-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1 (t-J_1)} \right)^{Q_1 v/\lambda_1}}.$$
(3.10)

For sham rats

$$Q_{1} = \frac{R(C_{2} - C_{1})}{2v} = 0 \text{ since } C_{1} = C_{2};$$
As above, $Q_{2} = \frac{R(C_{3} - C_{2})}{2v} = 0 \text{ since } C_{2} = C_{3};$ and
$$D(t) = \frac{D_{2} + D_{1}}{2} + \frac{D_{2} - D_{1}}{2} \tanh(\eta(t - K)) = D_{1} \text{ since } D_{1} = D_{2}.$$

$$B(x, t) = D_{1}e^{-Px} + \frac{A}{P}(1 - e^{-Px}), \text{ hence}$$

$$B(x, t) = (D_{1} - \frac{F}{C_{1}R})e^{-C_{1}Rx/v} + \frac{F}{C_{1}R}.$$
(3.11)

Chapter 4

Methods

Optimisation methods were implemented to arrive at a set of values for model parameters that best describe observed BV/TV in the experimental data. The model parameter values were identified by minimising the error between BV/TV values in the experimental data and BV/TV values predicted by the mathematical model for BV/TV.

The model in Equation 3.7 includes N = 13 parameters to be estimated from the data. Due to the great variation between rats and the noise in the measured values of the amount of bone as a function of distance from the growth plate for individual rats, the difference between the data and model as a function of the parameters is fraught with local minima. Accordingly, descent methods for minimising the fit over the parameters space was not possible. Instead, an optimal fit was sought in stages. Initial plausible ranges for the parameters were set based on inspection and physical constraints. Next, the parameters controlling the gross features of the model were fit. In subsequent stages, more parameters were added and ranges of parameters were refined. Exhaustive search over parameter sets limited to discrete values of the parameters within a fixed ranges was used at each step.

Statistical analysis was also carried out to investigate the effects of ovx and ovx+zol on the cycle rate, and to investigate the effects of ovx+zol on boundary conditions.

4.1 Optimisation methods

Optimisation of the model parameters was an iterative process and was carried out in three stages. First the search window for model parameter ranges was narrowed using exhaustive search methods with an initial estimate for initial conditions, s. Exhaustive search has the advantage over other optimisation routines that absolute minima are guaranteed to be found. However, the precision is limited by the level of discretisation of the parameter space.

Secondly, fixed resolution optimisation methods were implemented over a range of values of s, to identify a single value of s for all rats. Finally, once a value was determined for s, fixed resolution methods were again implemented over the entire model parameter space. An additional parameter was introduced to allow for small spatial shifts, ss, in an effort to treat uncertainty relating to variability in the data. Parameter ss was found for each rat and each time point, by using exhaustive search methods in a sub-routine of the fixed resolution optimisation algorithm.

4.1.1 Integral in solution for B(x,t)

The integral term in the solution for B(x,t) for both ovx and ovx+zol rats is of the form $\frac{1}{f(t)} \int_{t-x_0/v}^{t} f(y) dy$, where f denotes the integrand. For each time point t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84 that B(x,t) is calculated over x during optimisation, the integral is calculated using the quad command in Matlab in the first instance for B(0,t) over the interval $[t - \frac{x_0}{v}, t]$, where $x_0 = 0$ (initial conditions, s). After the integral is calculated for x_0 , the trapezoidal rule is used to approximate the integral by way of the integrand over the interval $[t - \frac{x_i}{v}, t - \frac{x_i + dx}{v}]$, for each of the remaining 399 slices, $x_1, x_2, ..., x_{399}$. Each slice is separated by $dx = x_{i+1} - x_i = 0.0087$ mm.

4.1.2 Error function

The error function f for rat r and time-point t for the model is given by $f_{r,t}(P)$, where $P = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_N)$ is the vector of N parameters. Here,

$$f_{r,t}(P) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{m} (B_r(x_i, t) - M(x_i, t))^2},$$

where $B(x_i, t)$ is the BV/TV value determined by the model, computed at slice *i* and time *t*; and $M(x_i, t)$ is the measured BV/TV value in the experimental bone block data at slice *i* and time *t*. This formula records the root mean squared error at x_i and time *t* averaged over the number of slices used in the function evaluation. The total error for rat *r* is $f_r = \text{mean}_t(f_{r,t})$ where mean_t depends on the number of time-points used or available for rat *r*. The total error reported for a group is $f = \text{mean}_t(f_r)$, where mean_r depends on the number of rats used or available for a group.

4.1.3 Initial parameter estimation

There are 13 parameters in the model for BV/TV, for which reasonable ranges had to be identified prior to optimisation.

4.1.3.1 Bone growth rate, v

The initial estimate for v was 0.023mm/day, found from preliminary work carried out in Section 2.2.3.2. This estimate was based on the distance that the inflection points in Equation 2.3 were found to travel over time for ovx+zol rats beginning t = 28. Efforts to quantify the sigmoidal plus linear shape were difficult given the variability between individual rats, noisy data and very small sample sizes. Subsequently, v was included in the optimisation scheme with the other parameters.

4.1.3.2 Model parameters R and C(t)

Average resorption volume, R, could vary between groups and change according to experimental conditions. However, R only appears in the analytic solution for B(x,t) as a product with the proportionality constant terms in C(t). R appears in the model as $S_1 = C_1 R$, $S_2 = C_2 R$, and $S_3 = C_3 R$. Thus R could not be determined individually. Similarly, proportionality terms C_1, C_2, C_3 in Equation 3.5 only appear in the solution for B(x,t) as products with R and could not be determined individually. Optimising these parameters requires knowledge of them separately. Parameters S_1, S_2 , and S_3 were used as surrogates for studying the trends in the proportionality term C(t) for cycle rate, c(B), under the assumption that differences in R were small across the three cohorts.

4.1.3.3 Narrowing parameter ranges

Exhaustive search methods were used to narrow the ranges for the parameters, beginning with fitting the model to the sham rat data. The solution for sham rats (Section 3.5) has three degrees of freedom, for fixed v. At most only three parameters could be deduced from the experimental data, including D1, $\frac{F}{S_1}$ where $S_1 = C_1 R$, and $\frac{S_1}{v}$. Preliminary experiments narrowed these parameter ranges as follows: $\frac{S_1}{v} \in [0.01, 0.50], D_1 \in [0.5, 0.8], \frac{F_1}{S_1} \in (0, 0.02)$, and $v \in [0.02, 0.04]$.

Further experiments were performed to find reasonable ranges for parameters for ovx and ovx+zol rats, by fixing most parameters and allowing 3-5 parameters to vary at time, over 5-10 values each. For a given parameter, the range was set over an exponential scale, and new ranges were chosen according to the location of the current optimal value that yielded the lowest error between the solution for B(x,t) and the BV/TV of the data. If an optimal value fell on one of the boundaries of the parameter range, the new range was reduced with the current optimal value in the centre of the range.

At this early stage of optimisation, some of the parameters were fixed. The effective point of formation was fixed at s = 0.5. The time shift parameter J_1 in Equation 3.5 was set to zero, with the simplified assumption that any changes to cycle rate due to ovx occur on the same day of the ovx surgery. Similarly, the time shift parameters J_2 in Equation 3.5 and K in Equation 3.6 were set to day 14, the same day that the zol treatments begin, implying that any effects of ovx+zol on cycle rate or change in BV/TV near the growth plate begin immediately after commencement of zoledronic acid treatment. A set of initial parameter ranges was established and can be seen in Table 4.1.

Parameter	Range	Units
v	[0.02, 0.04]	$\rm mm/day$
D_1	$\left[0.5, 0.8\right]$	dimensionless
D_2	[0.7, 0.95]	dimensionless
η	0.1	dimensionless
K	14	days
S_1	[0.007, 0.009]	events/day
S_2	[0.01, 0.03]	events/day
S_3	$[0.001, 0.1] \times 10^{-7}$	events/day
λ_1	[0.01, 3]	dimensionless
λ_2	[0.01, 3]	dimensionless
J_1	0	days
J_2	14	days
F	[0.0000001, 0.0000002]	dimensionless

Table 4.1: Parameter ranges

4.1.4 Fixed resolution optimisation

Fixed resolution optimisation was carried out after the above parameter estimation experiments, to find parameter ranges that were reasonable, but wide. The dimension of the parameter spaces is too large for exhaustive search methods. Also, this allowed for setting windows of parameters instead of discrete values and reduces the number of function calls compared to the exhaustive search methods.

For a given rat the optimisation routine was applied to identify the optimal set of N parameters in the model for BV/TV that best match the data over all time points. The full list of N = 13 model parameters are $v, S_1, S_2, S_3, D_1D_2, \lambda_1, \lambda_2, \eta, J_1, J_2$, and K.

During the fixed resolution optimisation, to minimise the error function, the error function was evaluated at 2N locations corresponding to one step in each of the 2N directions parallel to the N coordinate axes. In addition, a search is also carried out in the direction of the gradient of f to find the best neighbouring voxel (within the domain).

4.1.4.1 Inclusion of spatial shifts, ss

Additional spatial shifts, ss, are included in the model to account for the inexact knowledge of aspects of the data including the location of the growth plate, the natural variation in bone metabolism over time, the location of the effective point of formation, as well as the timing of the surgeries, injections and μ CT scans. During the optimisation process the data are shifted relative to the solution in order to minimise the error function f over the existing variables for a given rat, allowing different shifts for each time point.

4.1.4.2 Fixed resolution optimisation routine

- An initial point is set randomly from the domain of allowable values, for N parameters. Here N is the number of parameters in the model. For sham rats N = 4, for ovx rats N = 7, and for ovx+zol rats N = 13.
- 2. For a given direction of search, $p = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_N)$, the error function f is computed at the 2N points given by $p + e_i$ and $p - e_i$ for i = 1, 2, ..., N, where e_i is the same dimension as p with zeros everywhere except a 1 in position i, e = (0, 0, ...1, ..., 0).
- 3. The error function f is evaluated at a discrete form of the gradient, with the partial derivative in direction i computed as $d_i = \frac{f(p+e_i) f(p-e_i)}{2}$ and f is evaluated at $q_i = p + e_i \ \forall i$.
- 4. If $\min(f(q_i)) < f(p)$, then the search moves to q_i where $I = \operatorname{argmin}(f(q_i))$. If $f(q_i)$ has not been computed previously, steps 1-3 are applied with $p = q_i$. If $f(q_i)$ has been computed previously, then there is no point in applying the algorithm again at this point and so a new point in the parameter space is chosen randomly and steps 1-3 are applied at this new point.

5. The optimisation routine stops if a functional value of zero is found, a preset number of function calls is reached, or a preset number of iterations is performed.

ss shift optimisation The optimisation strategy for the data shifts is different to the fixed resolution optimisation for the 13 parameters. At each step at which the error function is evaluated at the 13 parameters, an additional exhaustive search is performed over an interval of possible relative shifts between the data and the model for B(x,t). Exhaustive search methods were implemented rather than fixed resolution to minimise unnecessary computation of B(x,t). Instead of comparing the data to the model shifted by an amount SS by way of computing B(x - SS, t), this strategy takes into account the shifts without excessive additional computations, since B(x - SS, t) is the same as B(x, t) shifted by SS.

4.1.4.3 Experiment for initial conditions, s

Parameter ranges in Table 4.1 were used for carrying out fixed resolution optimisation of model parameters over a range of values for s. In addition to fixed resolution optimisation of the 10 model parameters, an exhaustive search was performed over an interval of relative spatial shifts between the data and the model, for each rat and time point.

4.1.4.4 Experiment for optimal model parameters

After determining a single value for s, a final experiment was set up over the entire parameter space for all 13 model parameters, and over an interval of spatial shifts. The range of parameters are shown in Table 4.1. At this final stage of optimisation J_1, J_2 and K were allowed to vary up to 4 days from the time of surgery/injections.

4.2 Statistical testing

Statistical methods were implemented to investigate the effects of ovx and ovx+zol on BV/TV, and to examine the appropriateness of ss, the parameter included as a means of addressing noise and uncertainty in the experimental data.

- 1. To test the hypothesis that the distributions of the shift parameter, *ss*, are the same between groups, t-tests were performed between each group.
- 2. To test the null hypothesis that the cycle rate remains the same over time for all groups, t-tests were conducted to compare cycle rate parameters S_1, S_2 , and S_3 .
- 3. To test the hypothesis that boundary conditions for ovx+zol rats are the same compared to boundary conditions for the other groups, a t-test was performed to compare boundary condition parameters D_1 and D_2 .

Chapter 5

Results

The results are presented for implementation of the methods described in Chapter 4. Optimisation was carried out for identifying values and trends of the model parameters from the model for BV/TV, B(x, t), which was developed in Chapter 3. Statistical testing was conducted to investigate the dominant effects of ovariectomy surgery and zoledronic acid treatments on cancellous BV/TV in juvenile rats.

5.1 Initial conditions, s

Optimisation was carried out over ten B(x,t) model parameters with three of the model parameters fixed, $J_1 = 0$, $J_2 = 14$ and K = 14, for a range of values of s, the effective point of formation. Parameter s is viewed as the location where coupled bone remodelling begins. Values of s that were considered, range from s = 0 where x = 0 is viewed as being at the growth plate, to s = 1.2 with x = 0 viewed as being at the left edge of the experimental data window.

Examples of model fits for s too close to the growth plate at s = 0.1 are provided in Appendix C. Model fits are shown for all three groups in Figures C.1-C.3. The distribution of optimised model parameters for s = 0.1 are displayed in Figure C.4.

The value of s that minimised the error function, and also produced the best fits visually for BV/TV across the groups was found to be s = 0.8, in the vicinity of bone where primary spongiosa transitions to secondary spongiosa.

5.2 Modelling results

The final window of parameter ranges used for fixed resolution optimisation are presented in Table 4.1. For every rat in every group, the optimal set of parameters that minimised the error function comparing the model for BV/TV to the experimental data were recorded and can be found in Appendix C, in Tables C.1- C.3. These values are presented in Table 5.2 as the mean \pm standard deviation across all rats that share common parameters in the solution for B(x,t). Sham and ovx B(x,t) solutions include a subset of the total N = 13 parameters, and ovx+zol solutions include all 13 parameters.

Model parameters for each group:

- sham: $v, D_1, S_1, F (N = 4)$
- ovx: $v, D_1, S_1, F, S_2, \lambda_1 J_1 \ (N = 7)$
- ovx+zol: $v, D_1, S_1, F, S_2, \lambda_1 J_1, S_3, \lambda_2, J_2, D_2, \eta, K \ (N = 13)$

The fits for B(x,t) to the experimental data BV/TV are displayed for each rat in Figure 5.1 (sham), Figure 5.1 (ovx) and Figure 5.3. The distribution of optimal model parameters for each of the 13 parameters are displayed in Figures 5.4 - 5.6. Figure 5.4 shows the distribution of parameter values for parameters that appear in the solution for B(x,t) across all of the groups; Figure 5.5 shows the distribution of parameters relating to the effect of ovariectomy on cycle rate which appear in the solution of B(x,t) for both ovx and ovx+zol rats; and Figure 5.4 shows the distribution of parameter values for parameters relating to the effect of zoledronic acid on cycle rate and boundary conditions, which appear in the solution for B(x,t) for ovx+zol rats only.

Parameter	a	b
v	0.0200	0.0380
S_1	0.0065	0.0085
S_2	0.0200	0.0400
S_3	10^{-5}	10^{-2}
D_1	0.5500	0.9500
D_2	0.7500	0.9700
λ_1	0.0100	2
λ_2	0.0100	3
η	0.0200	0.2000
J_1	0	2
J_2	14	18
K	14	18
F	10^{-13}	10^{-10}

Table 5.1: Parameter ranges for final stage of optimisation, [a, b].

Growth rate The average growth rate over all 26 rats was $v = 0.034 \pm 0.004$.

Spatial shift, *ss* The values for the spatial shift parameter, *ss*, were recorded for each rat, according to group (Appendix C) and the distributions are displayed in Figure 5.7.

	All rats	Effect of ovariectomy	Effect of bisphosphonates	
	sham, ovx, ovx+zol	ovx,ovx+zol	ovx+zol	
	n = 26	n = 16	n = 9	
Parameters				
v	0.0338 ± 0.0044			
S_1	0.0073 ± 0.0009			
D_1	0.6885 ± 0.0846			
F	2.7394 ± 4.4988			$\times 10^{-11}$
S_2		0.0331 ± 0.0072		
λ_1		1.0465 ± 0.8871		
J_1		0.1923 ± 0.5670		
S_3	0.0025 ± 0.009			
λ_2	0.6375 ± 0.8859			
J_2	17.3333 ± 1.4142			
D_2		0.9456 ± 0.0367		
η		0.0844 ± 0.0371		
K		16.8889 ± 1.7638		

Table 5.2: Mean±standard deviation of optimal parameter values. n is the number of animals in the indicated groups.



Figure 5.1: Model for B(x,t) for sham rats. Each figure shows the BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for each t = 0 (black), t = 14 (brown), t = 28 (green), t = 56 (red), and t = 84 (blue) for an individual rat from the sham group plus the model for B(x,t) superimposed according to the same colour scheme. The model for the sham group does not change as a function of time, however the curves vary over the five time points due to slight variations in the optimised values for shift parameter, *ss.* Overall group error for fits is 0.0362.



Figure 5.2: Model for B(x,t) for ovx rats. Each figure shows the BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for each t = 0 (black), t = 14 (brown), t = 28 (green), t = 56 (red), and t = 84 (blue) for an individual rat from the ovx group plus the model for B(x,t) superimposed according to the same colour scheme. Overall group error for fits is 0.0363.



Figure 5.3: Model for B(x,t) for ovx+zol rats. Each figure shows the BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for each t = 0 (black), t = 14 (brown), t = 28 (green), t = 56 (red), and t = 84 (blue) for an individual rat from the ovx+zol group plus the model for B(x,t) superimposed according to the same colour scheme. Overall group error for fits is 0.0363.



Figure 5.4: Distributions of optimal model parameter values for parameters that apear in the solution for B(x,t) for all three groups. Parameters are v, S_1, D_1, F . Colours are according to group, sham: blue o, ovx: red *, zol: green triangle.



Figure 5.5: Distributions of optimal model parameter values for parameters that apear in the solution for B(x,t) for ovx and ovx+zol rats only. Parameters are S_2, λ_1, J_1 . Colours are according to group, ovx: red *, zol: green triangle.



Figure 5.6: Distributions of optimal model parameter values for parameters that apear in the solution for B(x,t) for ovx+zol rats only. Parameters are $S_3, \lambda_2, J_2, D_2, E, K$.

T-test results indicate that the shift distributions, ss, are the same between groups (Table 5.3).

	sham - ovx	sham - ovx+zol	ovx - ovx+zol
p	0.4139	0.1615	0.6839

Table 5.3: P-values for testing that the distributions of the spatial shift values, ss, are the same between groups

Cycle rate Without explicitly resolving the resorption volume parameter, R, the constants in the proportionality term for cycle rate, C(t), also cannot be explicitly resolved. Here, $S_1 = C_1 R$ is associated with the cycle rate for all rats at the baseline and for sham rats, $S_2 = C_2 R$ is associated with the cycle rate affected by ovariectomy surgery in the rats, and $S_3 = C_3 R$ is associated with the cycle rate affected by weekly zoledronic acid treatment in ovariectomised rats. Suppose R changes according to group, then any differences between parameters S_1, S_2 , and S_3 will either be more distinct or slightly less distinct. In any event, independent of R values, clearly any trends in S_1, S_2 and S_3 will prevail, and observation of these trends are valid without information about the model parameter R. Results for testing the hypothesis that S_1, S_2 and S_3 are the same, yielded p < 0.001 between each pair of parameters. The initial parameter ranges for S_1, S_2 and S_3 , were the same, and over time, as the optimisation methods were implemented, values narrowed for each of these parameters. The distribution of S_1, S_2 and S_3 values are shown in Figure 5.8.

Boundary conditions, D(t) Results for testing the hypothesis that D_1 and D_2 are the same, yielded p < 0.001 (Figure 5.9). The initial range of values were the same for D_1 and D_2 , and the ranges of these two parameters began to diverge early on during the



Figure 5.7: Distributions of values for spatial shifts, ss, for each group. The p-values for testing that the distributions are the same for sham, ovx, and ovx+zol are p = 0.4139 (sham-ovx), p = 0.1615 (sham-ovx+zol), and p = 0.6839 (ovx+zol).

optimisation process, as a consequence of minimising the error function between BV/TV values determined by B(x,t) and measured bone block BV/TV values. The distributions of values for D_1 and D_2 are shown in Figure 5.9.

5.2.1 Effect of ovx

The model results for the parameters relating to cycle rate indicated a significant increase from $S_1 = 0.007 \pm 0.001$ (sham,ovx,ovx+zol) to $S_2 = 0.033 \pm 0.007$ (ovx, ovx+zol) (p < 0.001). Results also suggest that the effect of the ovariectomy surgery on cycle rate



Figure 5.8: Distribution of optimal values for S_1 (sham,ovx,ovx+zol), S_2 (ovx,ovx+zol), S_3 (zol) with initial conditions s = 0.55. The p-values for testing that the distributions are the same for S_1, S_2 and S_3 are p < 0.001 between $S_1 - S_2, S_1 - S_3$, and $S_2 - S_3$.

begins to occur on the same day of surgery where the time shift parameter $J_1 = 0.19 \pm 0.6$ days (ovx,ovx+zol). Parameter $\lambda_1 = 1.05 \pm 0.9$ describes the rate at which the changes to cycle rate take effect after the time lag.

5.2.2 Effect of ovx+zol

There are two effects of zoledronic acid treatment in ovariectomised rats, including changes to the cycle rate, and changes to the boundary conditions.



Figure 5.9: Distribution of optimal values for D_1 (sham,ovx,ovx+zol), and D_2 (ovx+zol). The p-value for testing the hypothesis that D_1 and D_2 are the same is p < 0.001.

5.2.2.1 Cycle rate

Model results for the parameters associated with cycle rate in ovx+zol rats indicated that there was a significant decrease in the cycle rate after commencement of zoledronic treatment. In the ovx+zol rats, the cycle rate parameter associated with ovariectomy surgery, S_2 (ovx,ovx+zol), shifted to $S_3 = 0.003 \pm 0.009$ (ovx+zol) (p < 0.001). The shift from S_2 to S_3 occurs at $J_2 = 17.3 \pm 1.4$ days, just over 3 days after weekly zoledronic acid treatments begin. The rate of the shift from S_2 to S_3 is given by $\lambda_2 = 0.64 \pm 0.9$. S_3 is also significantly lower than S_1 (p < 0.001).

5.2.2.2 Boundary conditions

Results for optimisation of boundary condition parameters indicated a significant increase in the BV/TV of the bone that emerges at s = 0.55 in ovx+zol rats. The boundary condition constant changed from $D_1 = 0.69 \pm 0.08$ (sham,ovx,ovx+zol) to $D_2 = 0.95 \pm 0.04$ (ovx+zol). This shift started to occur at $K = 16.9 \pm 1.8$ days on average, almost 3 days after zoledronic bisphosphonate treatments begin.

Chapter 6

Discussion

The goal of this study was to characterise and model BV/TV as a function of distance relative to the growth plate over time, for three experimental groups, sham, ovx and ovx+zol using experimental data and mathematical modelling methods. The BV/TV for the experimental data was presented and analysed in Chapter 2, which motivated the development of the mathematical model for BV/TV that was described in Chapter 3. The optimisation of the model parameters was carried out according to the methodology presented in Chapter 4 and produced the findings that were reported in Chapter 5.

The work in this study yields a model that represents the spatio-temporal changes in BV/TV during growth in terms of simplified model parameters at the tissue scale. The model sufficiently describes the changes in BV/TV according to three key remodelling parameters, including the average formation and resorption volumes during a single remodelling event, f(B) and R respectively, and the cycle rate of remodelling, per unit BV/TV per unit time, c(B), with initial conditions s, and boundary conditions D(t).

The full scope of possible ramifications of the model on the understanding of cancellous bone and the medical consequences are beyond the scope of this work. The modelling results raise several questions and suggest insights that will require additional experimental work to verify or refute.

6.1 Summary of results

This study was able to reduce a very complex system to key model parameters using a mathematical approach combined with inherited experimental data, and describes the basic relationship between key remodelling parameters and BV/TV during growth. The results from this work present important findings for all three groups, and also open questions about the effect of zoledronic acid on BV/TV during growth.

The model for BV/TV, B(x, t), predicts that the number of remodelling events per unit tissue volume and per unit time, c(B) is proportional to the BV/TV for distance x and time t. S_1, S_2, S_3 are primary model parameters associated with the cycle rate, but they do not represent values of biological interest. Average resorption volume per event, R could not be deduced without further work, and thus the exact values of the proportionality constants in C(t) for the model for cycle rate c(B) are not known, as $S_1 = C_1R$, $S_2 = C_2R$, and $S_3 = C_3R$. However the trends are clear.

F is the primary model parameter that is associated with average formation volume during a single remodelling event, but F does not represent a value of biological interest. However, the average formation volume f(B) could not be deduced without further work, as f is dependent on cycle rate c(B).

The model predicts that BV/TV remains constant in juvenile sham rats across the metaphyseal region of data over time. This implies that during endochondral ossification, BV/TV is preserved for $t \ge 0$.

6.1.1 Dominant consequence of ovx

Preliminary observations reported in Section 2.2 revealed that BV/TV decreases throughout the metaphyseal region for ovx rats, for all time $t \ge 0$. The model results suggest that the observed changes to BV/TV in ovx rats can be explained by coupled remodelling at the BMU level. The dominant effect of ovx on bone remodelling was elevation of values of model parameters that are associated with the rate of remodelling. These results confirm the known changes to BMU remodelling in oestrogen-deplete adult organisms, and thus can be extended to juvenile rats. Results indicate that there were no disturbances local to the growth plate in ovx rats, and that the changes which take effect occur systemically throughout the entire metaphyseal region studied.

6.1.2 Dominant consequence of ovx+zol

Preliminary observations reported in Section 2.2 revealed that BV/TV was higher in ovx+zol rats than in ovx rats throughout the metaphyseal data, for all $t \ge 28$. The BV/TV increased significantly in the bone that emerged during growth after commencement of zoledronic acid treatments. Consequently, in the region of bone closest to the growth plate, BV/TV in ovx+zol rats was higher than all other rats for $t \ge 28$. As the emerging bone with increased BV/TV in ovx+zol rats advanced away from the growth plate, there were less data available in the region furthest away from the growth plate for comparing BV/TV between ovx+zol rats and the other groups. The available data in this region region decreased such that claims could not be made with confidence as to whether the effects of zoledronic acid in this region were either 1.) to restore ovx-related bone loss to baseline (sham) levels, or 2.) to prevent or attenuate ovx-related bone loss.

6.1.2.1 Remodelling parameters

The model results indicate that the changes to the BV/TV that were observed in the older bone that was formed prior to zoledronic acid treatment can be explained by changes to coupled remodelling alone at the BMU level. The effect of ovx+zol on bone remodelling was a decrease in values of the model parameters that are associated with the rate of remodelling. However the BV/TV changes observed in the bone emerging into the window of experimental data after zoledronic acid treatment begins was found to be best modelled by a combination of changes to both bone remodelling parameters, and changes to the BV/TV due to some other unknown processes which were addressed by way of boundary conditions.

6.1.2.2 Boundary conditions

For the ovx+zol rat data used in this study and for many others there is clearly a disturbance to the processes that occurs during endochondral ossification in both nitrogenated and non-nitrogenated bisphosphonates (Section 1.1.4.1). These processes are viewed as occurring either at s = 0.55mm from the growth plate, or closer to the growth plate. As the location of these unknown processes is outside the window of experimental data, boundary conditions for the BV/TV of the bone emerging into the data window over time were described by D(t). Exactly what aspect of the endochondral ossification system could be responsible for the abnormal increase in cancellous BV/TV remains unclear. One of the interesting features of this modelling study is that the model is unable to describe the mechanistic processes that lead to the observed changes to BV/TV. This limitation opens many questions about the location of the processes involved, the cells that are involved, and how zoledronic acid causes disruption to the system overall. Several possibilities for the effects of zoledronic acid are discussed below.

Chondroprotective properties Zoledronic acid has been reported as having chondroprotective effects, in that the degradation of cartilaginous material has been arrested in osteoarthritic articular joint cartilage (Section 1.1.4.1). Of interest, is what this chondroprotective property of zoledronic acid could potentially mean for cartilage and bone cells involved in endochondral ossification. The question remains, whether chondroclasts are indeed different enough from their osteoclast relatives such that they perform resorption under separate constraints and regulatory processes than osteoclasts do. Also unclear, is whether chondroclasts communicate with osteoblasts in the same way that osteoclasts do. Further, there is a possibility that osteoblasts might perform bone formation on the cartilage-bone scaffold in a fashion that is not in concert with the cartilage-resorbing chondroclasts. μCT imaging can only resolve mineralised structures, thus without histological testing, there is no way to know for certain whether that the cancellous bone in the experimental data used has a cartilaginous core. **Cartilaginous core** Suppose the cartilaginous core persists in the primary spongiosa, as has been observed in some studies (Section 1.1.4.1). Perhaps this effect alone could account for abnormally high BV/TV in the bone emerging into the secondary spongiosa, such that increased BV/TV observations arise solely due to the BMU remodelling machinery acting on a more dense, insufficiently sculpted cartilage template. Zoledronic acid has been shown to suppress expression of PTHrP. Perhaps PTHrP suppression at the growth plate could down regulate the function of chondroclasts to inhibit cartilage resorption.

BMU uncoupling In some studies, the cartilage matrix scaffold in zoledronic acid treated animals was not different to that observed in the control group, however the abnormally high BV/TV of cancellous bone were still observed in the secondary spongiosa (Section 1.1.4). Suppose then, that zoledronic acid impairs the ability of osteoclasts to resorb bone but does not impair the ability of osteoclasts/chondroclasts to resorb cartilaginous material. Then, suppose that the high BV/TV observed in this study and others, are not due to an unsculpted cartilage scaffold, but instead due to some other effect. For example, osteoblasts could become uncoupled from osteoclasts in the primary spongiosa. If this were to be the case, the question arises as to why the very tightly controlled coupling between these cells might malfunction at this location and seemingly not elsewhere in the metaphysis. Possibly, the uncoupling is related to the lower incident of osteocytes in this region. Perhaps there are biological regulatory systems in place to ensure that the osteoblasts continue to deposit bone, despite prior resorption of a) hypertrophic cartilage and/or b) cancellous bone. Perhaps the system allows for abnormally high BV/TV but does not allow for the absence of bone deposition. If uncoupling between osteoblasts and osteoclasts/chondroclasts occurs, further work is required to investigate which regulatory influences could be responsible, and whether these influences are local to the growth plate, or are systemic.

Perhaps the observed abnormal increase in BV/TV could be due to a combination of both chondroprotective processes next to the growth plate, and BMU uncoupling in the primary spongiosa.

6.2 Clinical implications

Technically, results for this study are only valid for rats that were 8 weeks old, as studied over a period of 12 weeks, and were sham operated, or ovariectomised, or first ovariectomised then administered weekly treatments of zoledronic acid, and were housed under specific conditions that include no change to loading conditions, diet or circadian rhythm. Nevertheless, any carry over of the modelling results to more general settings would have significant consequences and are worth considering.

6.2.1 BV/TV studies in growing animals

This study gives reason to believe that the endochondral ossification and coupled BMU remodelling systems may be affected differently under certain experimental conditions. One of most important outcomes in this study is that there is a need for BV/TV to be reported according to distance from the growth plate in growing animals. Reporting a single value for BV/TV over a large volume could misrepresent the effects of treatments on growing bone. More care is to be taken when studying the metaphysis in growing cohorts so as to be able to make observations for changes to the remodelling system separate to changes due to perturbation of endochondral ossification. Observations should be reported separately for the region of bone observed prior to experimentation and for the emerging region of bone after experimentation commences. Results for this study also indicate that certain types of measurements may not suffice for quantifying results in growing animals, including the use of biomarkers other structural or metabolic quantifiers that assume that changes to bone are the same everywhere.

6.2.2 sham conditions

As the model for BV/TV predicts no change to BV/TV over time in sham rats, one of the important implications from this is that juvenile sham rats may be appropriate animal models for studies that test the effects of mechanical loading/diet/pharma agents on bone structure in mature rats. Younger rats are less expensive to prepare for experi-
mentation, and are likely to have less time-related introduced variability that is seen in older rats. However, for experimentation with any growing animals, the observations in cancellous bone should always be viewed as functions of distance from the growth plate in the event that the experimental conditions under investigation affect bone emerging via endochondral ossification differently to older bone.

6.2.3 ovx conditions

Results for changes to BV/TV in ovariectomised growing rats suggest that there were no local disruptions at the growth plate in a way that was different to the effects on BV/TV observed elsewhere. As with sham rats, these results indicate that the juvenile ovariectomised rat also may be an appropriate animal model for testing osteoporosis in mature animals. The drastic changes to BV/TV throughout the entire metaphyseal region also indicate that oestrogen therapy may not be appropriate as a treatment for bone loss, and that localised oestrogen treatment could potentially still have systemic effects elsewhere.

6.2.4 Zoledronic acid treatment

Model results for ovx+zol rats have implications in relation to the increasingly common use of zoledronic acid and bisphosphonates in children with low bone mineral density and bone fragility, and bisphosphonate treatments could be hindering normal skeletal growth. Bisphosphonates are currently prescribed to children and juveniles with osteoporosis caused by various genetic skeletal disorders (Section 1.1.4).

Model predictions for ovx+zol rats are such that the BV/TV of the emerging bone prior to treatment have average BV/TV equal to $D_1 = 0.69$ at x = 0, and begin to increase almost immediately, within a day or two after commencement of treatment (K = 16.9days) until reaching average BV/TV equal to $D_2 = 0.95$ at x = 0. Further, the model predicts that the BV/TV of the bone emerging from the growth plate remain elevated as endochondral ossification continues, and the high BV/TV persist as the bone travels away from the growth plate. Should a similar dosing scheme to that which was used for this study be implemented in growing children, exactly whether this would even be structurally detrimental, is not well understood.

6.2.4.1 Dosing schemes and mechanical testing

Other studies that include less frequent and higher doses of bisphosphonate treatments in children have reported the appearance of zebra lines (Section 1.1.4) with intermittent increases in BV/TV according to the time of bisphosphonate administration. Zebra lines were not seen in the rat experimental data used for this work. The increase in the bone emerging from the growth plate in this study, rather steadily increased according to D(t). Possibly, the zebra lines were present in the experimental data but could not be resolved due to lack of spatial/temporal resolution. The growth rate on average was recorded as v = 0.03, the injections were roughly weekly, and the µCT data slices are separated by a distance of 0.0087mm. Thus the zebra lines would in the experimental data occur every 20-30 slices.

Perhaps the disturbance at the the growth plate during endochondral ossification could be minimised or addressed by changing the bisphosphonate dosing regimen in children. Zebra lines pose a fracture risk due to sharp changes to BV/TV of the cancellous bone, and work in this area would be served well to include mechanical testing in addition to the usual histomorphometric and histological testing. There may be an optimal dose to prevent zebra lines or to prevent the accumulative and persisting high BV/TV that were observed in this study.

Most certainly, long term effects of zoledronic treatment in growing cohorts deserves further investigation, and they have been detected in children up to eight years after treatment cessation (Section 1.1.4). The rat model may not be appropriate for investigation of long term effects of zoledronic acid treatment, due to the persisting growth plate that never fuses.

6.3 Limitations of the model

All models have limited validity, but by prescribing systems mathematically, properties can be observed and predicted that may not be obvious to the experimenter. Some of the issues that this study was limited by are challenges that span across all areas of mathematical modelling, including spatial/temporal complexity, parameter estimation, treatment of uncertainty and statistical analysis. The inclusion of spatial shifts for each rat at each time point served well to address some of the uncertainty that arises from the factors listed below, with normally distributed values across the groups and no difference in the distributions between groups, indicating that there was no one group or time point that requires shifts more than other, and the degree of variability was the same across groups.

6.3.1 Growth rate v

For simplification, the growth rate model parameter v was modelled as a constant, and determined during the fixed resolution optimisation scheme, along with the other twelve parameters. The range of optimised values for v were comparable to experimental values reported in the literature (Modi *et al.*, 2011; Leppanen *et al.*, 2010; Roach *et al.*, 2003). However, are many factors that influence growth rate over shorter and longer time periods (Section 1.1.2.1). Within any given day, the rate of growth is related to the delicate balance and modulation of chondrocyte proliferative kinetics, matrix synthesis/degradation and the enlargement processes of chondrocytes in the hypertrophic zone.

6.3.2 Initial conditions

Results for setting the initial conditions, or the effective point of bone formation, for x = 0 at s = 0.8 gave the best visual fits across all rats. A single value was determined for all 26 rats, where this is a parameter that could be different between groups, or between rats, or even between time points for a given rat.

The chondro-osseous junction is not a flat line perpendicular to the medial axis, but rather has curvature that deviates along the perpendicular direction up to 0.5mm (Kimmel & Jee, 1980). Setting x = 0.8mm from the bottom of the growth plate puts the effective point of bone deposition somewhere in the vicinity of the chondro-osseous junction and where the primary spongiosa transitions to secondary spongiosa. Prescribing the effective point of bone deposition was necessary for initial conditions for the model, however this is not a straight forward concept. x = 0 could be the location where the calcified cartilage template emerges from the hypertrophic zone and is replaced by bone due to coupled remodelling. x = 0 could be at a location where the material is still calcified cartilage, waiting to be remodelled by differentiating osteoblasts and osteoclasts. These distances are also affected by the height of the growth plate which changes due to chondrocyte behaviour. The height does reach short periods of steady state, but can change even within a 24 hour period (Wilsman *et al.*, 1996).

6.4 Further work for this study

This work presents a simplified model which provides opportunity for future improvements in both mathematical modelling strategies and experimental data collection.

6.4.1 Modelling parameters

A more sophisticated version of the model could include cyclical behaviour for v, or at least allow v to be modelled as a function of time and/or distance relative to the growth plate according to some or all of the factors mentioned above in Section 6.3.1. Further uncertainty for the growth rate arises due to the unknown influences from oestrogen depletion or bisphosphonate treatment (Sections 1.1.2 and 1.1.4).

Future work could allow for added complexity for initial conditions. In addition to the above limitations mentioned in Section 6.3.2 that put x = 0 in question, even less understood are under the influences on x = 0 due to ovariectomy or ovariectomy combined with zoledronic acid treatments.

D(t) could be improved to include oscillations for zebra lines, where the BV/TV may still continue to increase over time for ovx+zol rats, though with additional cyclical fluctuations according to frequency of dosing.

In addition to the levels of complexity that could be added to initial conditions, s, growth rate v and boundary conditions D(t), further work is required to resolve C_1, C_2, C_3 and R. In prior work carried out by Fazzalari *et al.* (2012), R was resolved by simulating bone remodelling according to the optimised model parameters over a range for biologically reasonable values for R. Here the bone block at t = 0 was used to initialise simulations and structural attributes were used in an error function for comparing the simulated bone block at the remaining 4 experimental data points (t = 14, 28, 56, 84). An optimised value of R was the value that minimised the error function and thus produced simulated bone that best matched the structure of the experimental data , where R values were determined for each group.

Similarly, an extension for this model in the future could include a second stage involving simulation, in the following way. The bone block extending from the left side of the window (x = 1.2mm) to the right side of the window (x = 4.7mm) could be broken up into 5 smaller bone blocks, and each of these sub bone blocks could be simulated over time and structurally compared to the experimental data by shifting the bone block domain Ω_i for i = 1 : 5 to the right away from the growth according to the growth rate, v. A smaller bone block with domain Ω_i is used as the initial state and individual remodelling events are simulated according model parameters in B(x, t) and continued over time, where the resulting structural attributes are compared to the original unsimulated bone blocks at distance x = x + tv for each t.

6.4.2 Experimental data

Increased spatial and temporal resolution in μ CT data also could greatly aid improvements of the mathematical model for BV/TV. The effects of the zoledronic acid treatment were not observable until t = 28, leaving only three timepoints of the five in total. Additional scanning between timepoints would be advantageous for the spatial resolution of the experimental data studied for this project. An extended time frame for observations could also lead to further insights. For ovx+zol rats, the model predicts that the increase in BV/TV will persist under the same conditions with continued weekly zoledronic acid treatment, and that the increased BV/TV will continue to travel away from the growth plate according to v. Of interest, is the potential impact that this phenomenon could have on the emerging structure long term. Should conditions change, for example cessation of zoledronic acid treatment, further investigation would be required to investigate whether the bone remodelling machinery may be able restore the abnormally dense bone to normal density over time. Suppose the abnormal BV/TV is due to a persisting cartilaginous core, perhaps over time, the remodelling machinery may be able to replace the cartilaginous material with bone material. The possibility remains that the high BV/TV observed in ovx+zol rat experimental data may not even be overall disadvantageous to the organism longterm. In fact, there may be scenarios where perhaps the high BV/TV may be advantagous, say for instance, in the case of secondary osteoporosis caused by implantation.

Chapter 7

Summary and concluding remarks

A summary is provided of results, recommendations and future perspectives.

7.1 Key findings

A model was developed to provide a simplified description of BV/TV that relates remodelling processes to observed BV/TV in longitudinal experimental µCT data in growing juvenile rats. The results demonstrate that the approach is sufficient at the tissue scale to draw some important conclusions about the effects of ovariectomy, and ovariectomy combined with zoledronic acid treatment.

In summary, the results indicate the following:

- $\bullet\,$ for sham rats, the BV/TV did not change over time during growth;
- for ovx rats, BV/TV decreased throughout the metaphysis;
- the dominant effect of ovx was elevation of values of model parameters that are associated with the rate of bone remodelling;
- for ovx+zol rats, BV/TV was higher throughout the metaphysis than the BV/TV in ovx rats after zoledronic acid treatments begin, though results are inconclusive

as to whether the effect of zoledronic acid was to restore BV/TV in ovariectomised animals, or to prevent further bone loss;

- for the ovx+zol rats there was a dramatic local increase in BV/TV of the bone that had emerged from during growth after zoledronic acid treatments began;
- the dominant effect for ovx+zol was to decrease values of model parameters that are associated with the rate of bone remodelling;
- bone remodelling alone sufficed to model the observed values of BV/TV at all time points for the sham and ovx rats; and
- for ovx+zol rats, in the region of bone that had emerged during growth after commencement of zoledronic acid treatment, changes to BV/TV were modelled as being a combination of changes to bone remodelling parameters and changes to unknown processes that occurred outside the window of experimental data.

The fact that the model results are in agreement with current understanding of the effects of ovx and ovx+zol on bone remodelling for mature rats indicates that viewing bone remodelling at this very course scale provides confirmation of what is known for adult rats and gives reason to believe that this knowledge can be extended to growing rats.

7.2 Future research

As discussed in Chapter 6, there are several opportunities for further work in this spatiotemporal modelling study, including improvements to both modelling methods and collection of experimental data. There are a few parameters of the model that have potential for further levels of complexity, including the growth rate, v, the initial conditions, and the boundary conditions D(t). An additional simulation step could be implemented to resolve model parameter values for resorption volume, R, and for the proportionality constants in the cycle rate term, C(t). Sample sizes of experimental data could be made larger for the purpose of statistical analysis. Larger sample sizes are expensive, and thus collection of more data could be combined with additional experimental methods including increased spatial and temporal resolution, reporting of size measurements of the rats over time, studying the bone histologically, and carrying out mechanical testing.

More generally, model results indicate that BV/TV and other structural properties of bone in growing cohorts should be viewed as functions of the growth plate. Older bone that emerges during growth prior to experimentation should be reported on separately to newly emerged bone. Until this becomes the standard, there is no way to determine any differential effects that agents or experimental conditions may have during endochondral ossification in growing bone, compared to older bone.

For experimental studies investigating zoledronic acid treatment in growing animals, model results also demonstrated the need for:

- resolution of cartilaginous material at and near the growth plate, in addition to potential cartilaginous core that may persist in cancellous bone;
- testing of mechanical properties of cancellous bone; and
- further work to potentially identify desirable zoledronic acid dosing schemes.

7.3 Outlook

The model for BV/TV presented in this study provides a significant step forward towards understanding the changes to the remodelling machinery in growing juvenile rats over time for ovariectomised rats and ovariectomised rats treated with zoledronic acid. The results of the modelling experiments are clear. The results provide an explanation for changes in terms of mechanics, and predict changes to BV/TV under the experimental conditions. The trends are in agreement with those evidenced by both modelling and experiential studies across various spatial and temporal scales.

The current body of knowledge includes contributions from mathematical modelling of both growth plate dynamics during prenatal and postnatal growth, and for the many models of bone remodelling in cancellous and cortical bone. However, there is a gap in what is known about the system in between. The system in between lies in the region where cartilage meets bone in the chondro-osseous junction. Here, local growth plate regulatory signalling activity meets the endocrine and systemic signalling activity at the vascular front, and very little is known about exactly how these two types of signalling molecules interact with each other. This system is nested between the current boundary of knowledge for the growth plate dynamics and the current boundary of knowledge for bone remodelling dynamics. There is a need to capture the mechanics, and will require careful experimental design in combination with building mathematical models for testing the dynamics of experimental findings.

The interesting feature of the model results is where the model is unable to describe all of the BV/TV changes in terms of mechanics for the ovx+zol rats. As is common for modelling, boundary conditions were prescribed to address the issue of unknown mechanics which operate outside the domain of the experimental data used, located in the region that cannot be fully captured with current μ CT technology. Now that the increased BV/TV of the emerging bone in the ovx+zol rats has been observed and modelled qualitatively, an effort is required to deepen the current understanding of the mechanics at play.

This modelling study provides a starting point towards the development of a full multiscale model that includes the intricacies of the development of endochondral ossification in growing animals and changes to this system due to pathologies like ovariectomy and zoledronic acid treatment. A multidisciplinary effort is required now, for experts across the sciences to give priority towards a better understanding of this system. Scientists from the fields of image analysis, biochemistry, biophysics, engineering, biology, medicine and mathematics need to share findings, as has been done extensively thus far for the two systems either side of the chondro-osseous junction.

Bibliography

- ADAM, J A. 1999. A simplified model of wound healing with particular reference to the critical size defect. *Mathematical Computational Modeling*, **20**, 23–32.
- ADAM, J A. 2002. THe effect of surface curvature on wound healing in bone : II. The critical size defect. *Mathematical Computational Modeling*, **35**, 1085–1094.
- ALIAS, MOHD ALMIE, & BUENZLI, PASCAL R. 2018. Osteoblasts infill irregular pores under curvature and porosity controls: a hypothesis-testing analysis of cel behaviours. *Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology*, 17(5), 1357–1371.
- ALLEN, MATTHEW R. 2018. Recent Advances in Understanding Bisphosphonate Effects on Bone Mechanical Properties. CURRENT OSTEOPOROSIS REPORTS, 16(2), 198– 204.
- ALLISTON, TAMARA, & DERYNCK, RIK. 2002. Medicine: Interfering with bone remodeling. *Nature*, **416**(6882), 686–687.
- AMBARD, D, & SWIDER, P. 2006. A predictive mechano-biological model of the boneimplant healing. European Journal of Mechanics A/Solids, 25, 927–937.
- AMENT, C, & HOFER, E P. 2000. A fuzzy logic model of fracture healing. Journal of Biomechanics, 33, 961–968.
- BAILON-PLAZA, A, & MEULEN, M C H VAN DER. 2003. Beneficial effects of moderate, early loading and adverse effects of delayed or excessive loading on bone healing. *Journal* of Biomechanics, 36, 1069–1077.

- BIGGIN, ANDREW, BRIODY, JULIE, ORMSHAW, ELIZABETH, WONG, KAREN K Y, BENNETTS, BRUCE H, & MUNNS, CRAIG F. 2014. Fracture during Intravenous Bisphosphonate Treatment in a Child with Osteogenesis Imperfecta: An Argument for a More Frequent, Low-Dose Treatment Regimen. HORMONE RESEARCH IN PÆDI-ATRICS, 81, 204–210.
- BILEZIKIAN, JOHN P, MATSUMOTO, TOSHIO, BELLIDO, TERESITA, KHOSLA, SUN-DEEP, MARTIN, JACK, RECKER, ROBERT R, HEANEY, ROBERT, SEEMAN, EGO, PAPAPOULOS, SOCRATES, & GOLDRING, STEVEN R. 2009. Targeting Bone Remodeling for the Treatment of Osteoporosis: Summary of the Proceedings of an ASBMR Workshop. JOURNAL OF BONE AND MINERAL RESEARCH, 24, 373–385.
- BÖRJESSON, A E, LAGERQUIST, M K, WINDAHL, S H, & OHLSSON, C. 2013. The role of estrogen receptor α in the regulation of bone and growth plate cartilage. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, **70**, 4023–4037.
- BOYCE, ALISON MD, TOSI, LAURA L, & PAUL, SCOTT M. 2014. Bisphosphonate Treatment for Chidlren With Disabling Conditions. *PM AND R*, **6**, 427–436.
- BOYD, STEVEN K, DAVISON, PETER, MULLER, RALPH, & GASSER, JURG. 2006. Monitoring individual morphological changes over time in ovariectomized rats by in vivo micro-computed tomography. *Bone*, 854–862.
- BROUWERS, J E M, VAN DONKELAAR, C C, SENGERS, B G, & HUISKES, R. Can the growth factors PTHrP, Ihh and VEGF, together regulate the development of a long bone?
- BROUWERS, J E M, LAMBERS, F M, GASSER, L A, VAN RIETBERGEN, B, & HUISKES, R. 2008. Bone Degeneration and Recovery after Early and Late Bisphosphonate Treatment of Ovariectomized Wistar Rats Assessed by In Vivo Micro–Computed Tomography. *Calcified Tissue International*, 82, 202–211.
- BROWERS, J E M, VAN DONKELAAR, C C, SENGERS, B G, & HUISKES, R. 2006. Can the growth factors PTHrP, Ihh and VEGF, together regulate the development of a long bone? *Journal of Biomechanics*, **39**, 2774–2782.

- BROWN, JACQUES P, ALBERT, CAROLINE, NASSAR, BASSAM A, ADACHI, JONATHAN D, COLE, DAVID, ADN KENT DOOLEY, K SHAWN DAVISON, DON-WAUCHOPE, ANDREW, DOUVILLE, PIERRE, HANLEY, DAVID A, JAMAL, SOPHIE A, JOSSE, ROBERT, KAISE, STEPHANIE, KRAHN, JOHN, KRAUSE, RICHARD, KRE-MER, RICHERD, LEPAGE, RAYOMD, LETENDRE, ELAINE, MORIN, SUZANNE, OOI, DAYLILY S, PAPAIOAONNOU, ALEXAMDRA, & STE-MARIE, LOUIS-GEORGES. 2009. Bone turnover markers in the management of postmenopausal osteoporosis. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 42, 929–942.
- BUENZLI, P R, PIVONKA, P, & SMITH, D W. 2011. Spatio-temporal structure of cell distribution in cortical Bone Multicellular Units: A Mathematical model. *Bone*, 48, 918–926.
- BUENZLI, PASCAL, PIVONKA, PETER, GARDINER, BRUCE S, & SMITH, DAVID W. 2013. Modelling the anabolic response of bone using a cell population model. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **307**, 42–52.
- BUENZLI, PASCAL R. 2015. Osteocytes as a record of bone formation dynamics: A mathematical model of osteocyte generation in bone matrix. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 264, 418–427.
- BUENZLI, PASCAL R, & SIMS, NATALIE A. 2015. Quantifying the osteocyte network in the human skeleton. *BONE*, **75**, 144–150.
- BUKOWSKI, JACK F, DASCHER, CHRISTOPHER C, & DAS, HIRANMOY. 2005. Alternative bisphosphonate targets and mechanisms of action. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **328**, 746–750.
- BURGER, ELISABETH H, & KLEIN-NULEND, JENNEKE. 1999. Mechanotransduction in bone role of the lacuno-canalicular network. *The FASEB Journal*, **13**, S101–S112.
- BURR, DAVID B, MARTIN, R BRUCE, SCHAFFLER, MITCHEL B, & RADIN, ERIC L. 1985. BONE REMODELING IN RESPONSE TO IN VIVO FATIGUE MICRODAM-AGE. Journal of Biomechanics, 18(3), 189–200.

- CAPPARIELLO, ALFREDO, MAURIZI, ANTONIO, VEERIAH, VIMAL, & TETI, ANNA. 2014. The great beauty of the osteoclast. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 558, 70–78.
- CARTER, D R. 1987. Mechanical loading history and skeletal biology. Journal of biomechanics, 20, 1095–1109.
- CARTER, D R, BAUPRE, G S, GIORI, N J, & HELMS, J A. 1998. Mechanobiology of skeltal regeneration. *Clinical Orthapaedic Related Research*, **355S**, S41–S55.
- CARVAS, J S, PEREIRA, R M R, CAPARBO, V F, FULLER, P, SILVEIRA, C A, LIMA, L A P, BONFA, E, & MELLO, S B V. 2010. A single dose of zoledronic acid reverses the deleterious effects of glucocorticoids on titanium implant osseointegration. Osteoporosis International, 21, 1723–1729.
- CHOW, J W M, WILSON, A J, CHAMBERS, T J, & FOX, S W. 1998. Mechanical Loading Stimulates Bone Formation by Reactivation of Bone Lining Cells in 13–Week– Old–Rats. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 13, 1760–1767.
- CLAES, L E, & HEIGELE, C A. 1999. Magnitudes of local stress and strain along bony surfaces predict the course and type of fracture healing. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **32**, 255–266.
- CLOWES, J A, HANNON, R A, YAP, T S, HOYLE, N R, BLUMSOHN, A, & EASTELL, R. 2002. Effect of Feeding on Bone Turnover Markers and Its Impact on Biological Variability of Measurements. *Bone*, **30**(6), 886–890.
- COELHO, P G, FERNANDES, P R, RODRIGUES, H C, CARDOSO, J B, & GUEDES, J M. 2009. Numerical modeling of bone tissue adaptation – A hierarchical approach for bone apparent density and trabecular structure. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 42, 830–837.
- COLEMAN, ROBERT. 2010. The use of bisphosphonates in cancer treatment. ANNALS OF THE NEW YORK ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, **1218**, 3–14.

- CORNEA, NICU D, SILVER, DEBORAH, YUAN, XIAOSONG, & BALASUBRAMANIAN, RAMAN. 2005. Computing Hierarchical Curve–Skeletons of 3D Objects. *The Visual Computer*, **21**(11), 945–955.
- CORSI, ALESSANDRO, IPPOLITO, ERNESTO, ROBEY, PAMELA G, RIMINUCCI, MARA, & BOYDE, ALAN. 2017. Bisphosphonate-induced zebra lines in fibrous dysplasia of bone: histo-radiographic correlation in a case of McCune-Albright syndrome. *Skeletal Radiology*, 46, 1435–1439.
- COURTEIX, D, LESPESSAILLES, E, PERES, S LOUSEAU, OBERT, P, GERMAIN, P, & BENHAMOU, C L. 1998. Effect of Physical Training on Bone Mineral Density in Prepubertal Girls: A Comparative Study Between Impact-Loading and Non-Impact-Loading Sports. Osteoporosis International, 8, 152–158.
- COWIN, S, & WIENBAUM, S. 1998. Strain amplification in the bone mechanosensory system. *American Journal of Medical Sciences*, **316**, 184–188.
- COWIN, S C, MOSS-SALENTIJN, L, & MOSS, M L. 1991. Candidates for the Mechanosensory System in Bone. *Journal of Biomechanical Engineering*, **113**, 191–197.
- COWIN, STEPHEN C. 2005. Tensile and compressive stress yield criteria for cancellous bone. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **38**, 14–144.
- COWIN, STEPHEN C. 2007. The significance of bone microstructure in mechanotransduction. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **40**, S105–109.
- CREMERS, S, DRAKE, M T, EBETINO, F H, BILEZIKIAN, J P, & RUSSEL, R G G. 2019. Pharmacology of bisphosphonates. BRITISH JOURNAL OF CLINICAL PHAR-MACOLOGY, 85(6), 1052–1062.
- CREMERS, SERGE, & GARNERO, PATRICK. 2006. Biochemical Markers of Bone Turnover in the Clinical Development of Drugs for Osteoporosis and Metastatic Bone Disease. Drugs, 66(15), 2031–2058.

- D'AMELIO, P, GRIMALDI, A, CRISTOFARO, M A, RAVAZZOLI, M, MOLINATTI, P A, PESCARMONA, G P, & ISAIA, G C. 2010. Alendronate reduces osteoclast precursors in osteoporosis. Osteoporosis International, 21, 1741–1750.
- DICKSON, G R, GEDDIS, C, FAZZALARI, N, MARSH, D, & PARKINSON, I. 2007. Microcomputed Tomography Imaging in a Rat Model of Delayed Union/N on–Union Fracture. JOURNAL OF ORTHAPAEDIC RESEARCH, 26, 729–736.
- ELEFTERIOU, FLORENT, AHN, JONG DEOK, TAKEDA, SHU, STARBUCK, MICHAEL, YANG, XIANGLI, LIU, XUIYUN, KONDO, HISATAKA, RICHARDS, WILLIAM G., BAN-NON, TONY W., NODA, MASAKI, CLEMENT, KARINE, VAISSE, CHRISTIAN, & KARSENTY, GERARD. 2004. Leptin regulation of bone resorption by the sympathetic nervous system. *Nature*, **1038**.
- ERBEN, R G, KOHN, B, RAMBECK, W A, & ZUCKER, H. 1990. HISTOMORPHOMET-RIC ANALYSIS OF THE RAT PROXIMAL TIBIAL METAPHYSIS BY "LINEAR SCANNING". *Scanning Microscopy*, 4(3), 625–640.
- ERBEN, RIEHNHOLD. 1995. Trabecular and Endocortical Bone Surfaces in the Rat: Modeling or Remodeling? The Anatomical Record, 246, 39–46.
- ERDOGAN, M, BEREKET, C, OZKAN, N, ALICI, O, SENER, I, DESTELI, E E, & ILKAYA, F. 2019. The effect of zoledronic acid on growth plates and high turnover. BRATISLAVA MEDICAL JOURNAL, 115(3), 131–135.
- EVANS, K D, LAU, S T, OBERAUER, A M, & MARTIN, R B. 2003. Alendronate affects long bone length and growth plate morphology in the *oim* mouse model for Osteogenesis Imperfecta. *Bone*, **32**, 268–274.
- FAZZALARI, NICOLA L, MARTIN, BRIANNA L, REYNOLDS, KAREN J, CLEEK, TAMMY M, BADIEI, ARASH, & BOTTEMA, MURK J. 2012. A model for the change of cancellous bone volume and structure over time. *Mathematical Biosciences*, 240, 132–140.
- FLEISCH, HERBERT. 1998. Bisphosphonates: Mechanisms of Action. Endocrine Reviews, 19(1), 80–100.

- FYHRIE, D P, & SCHAFFLER, M B. 1995. THE ADAPTATION OF BONE APPARENT DENSITY TO APPLIED LOAD. Journal of Biomechanics, 28(2), 135–146.
- FYHRIE, D P, FAZZALARI, N L, GOULET, R, & GOLDSTEIN, S A. 1993. DIRECT CALCULATION OF THE SURFACE-TO-VOLUME RATIO FOR HUMAN CAN-CELLOUS BONE. Journal of Biomechanics, 26(8), 955–967.
- FYHRIE, D P, LANGE, S M, HOSHAW, S J, SCHAFFLER, M B, & KUO, R F. 1995. Human Vertebral Cancellous Bone Surface Distribution. Bone, 17(3), 287–291.
- GABET, YANKEL, KOHAVI, DAVID, KOHLER, THOMAS, BARAS, MARIO, MÚLLER, RALPH, & BAB, ITAI. 2008. Trabecular Bone Gradient in Rat Long Bone Metaphyses: Mathematical Modeling and Application to Morphometric Measurements and Correction of Implant Positioning. JOURNAL OF BONE AND MINERAL RESEARCH, 23, 48–57.
- GARIMELLA, RAMA, TAGUE, SARAH E, ZHANG, JIANGHONG, BELIBI, FRANK, JA-HAR, NIRU, SUN, B H, INSOGNA, KARL, WANG, JINXI, & ANDERSON, H CLARKE. 2008. Expression and Synthesis of Bone Morphogenetic Proteins by Osteoclasts – A Possible Path to Anabolic Bone Remodeling. *Journal of the Histochemical Society*, 1369(10).
- GARZÓN-ALVARADO, D A, GARCÍA-AZNAR, J M, & DOBLARÉ, M. 2009. A reaction– diffusion model for long bones growth. *Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology*, 8, 381–395.
- GARZÓN-ALVARADO, D A, NARVÁEZ-TOVAR, CARLOS A, & SILVA, OCTAVIO. 2011. A MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF THE GROWTH PLATE. Journal of Mechanics in Medicine and Biology, 11, 1213–1240.
- GERIS, L, OOSTERWYCK, H VAN, SLOTEN, J VANDER, KEULEN, F VAN, DUYCK, J, & NAERT, I. 2008. Angiogenesis in bone fracture healing: a bioregulatory model. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 251, 137–158.

- GERIS, L, SLOTEN, J VANDER, & OOSTERWYCK, H VAN. 2009. In Silico biology of bone remodelling and remodelling: regeneration. *PHILOSOPHICAL TRANSACTIONS OF THE ROYAL SOCIETY A*, 367, 2031–2053.
- GIROTRA, MONICA, RUBIN, MISHAELA R, & BILEZIKIAN, JOHN P. 2006. Anabolic Skeletal Therapy for Osteoporosis. Arq Bras Endocrinal Metab, **50**(4), 745–754.
- GONTAR, AMELIA, TRONNOLONE, HAYDEN, BINDER, BENJAMIN J, & BOTTEMA, MURK J. 2018. Characterising shape patterns using features derived from best-fittig ellipsoids. *Pattern Recognition*, 83, 365–374.
- GUO, X E, & KIM, C H. 2002. Mechanical consequence of trabecular bone loss and its treatment: a three–dimensional model simulation. *Bone*, **30**, 404–411.
- HENDERSON, J H, & CARTER, D R. 2002. Mechanical induction in limb morphogenesis: the role of growth-generated strains and pressures. *Bone*, **31**, 645–653.
- HOLSTEIN, SARAH A. 2019. A patent review of bisphosphonates in treating bone disease. EXPERT OPINION ON THERAPEUTIC PATENTS, **29**(5), 315–325.
- HORNBY, S B, EVANS, G P, HORNBY, S L, PATAKI, A, GLATT, M, & GREEN, J R. 2003. Long-term zoledronic acid treatment increases bone structures and mechanical strength of long bones of ovariectomized adult rats. *Calcified Tissue International*, 72, 519–527.
- HUISKES, R, DRIEL, W D VAN, PRENDERGAST, P J, & SOBALLE, K. 1997. A biomechanical regulatory model for periprosthetic fibrous-tissue differentiation. *Journal* of Material Science and Medicine, 8, 785–788.
- HUISKES, RIK, RUIMERMAN, RONALD, LENTHE, G, & JANSSEN, JAN D. 2000. Effects of mechanical forces on maintenance and adaptation of form in trabecular bone. *Nature*, 405, 704–706.
- HUNZIKER, E B, KAPFINGER, E, & GEISS, J. 2007. The structural architecture of adult mammalian articular cartilage evolves by a synchronized process of tissue resorption

and neoformation during postnatal development. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 15(4), 403–413.

- ICHI NAKAHAMA, KEN. 2010. Cellular communications in bone homeostasis and repair. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, **76**, 4001–4009.
- ISHIZUKA, MARIKO, TSUJI, SHOJI, HRABAYASHI, MASATO, & KANEKO, KAZUNARI. 2017. Characteristic Bands Manifesting as Zebra Lines on Radiographs in Osteogenesis Imperfecta. Indian Journal of Pediatrics, 84(4), 336.
- JILKA, ROBERT L, WEINSTEIN, ROBERT S, PARFITT, A M, & MANOLAGAS, STAV-ROS C. 2007. Perspective. Quantifying Osteoblast and Osteocyte Apoptosis: Challenges and Rewards. JOURNAL OF BONE AND MINERAL RESEARCH, 22(10), 1492–1501.
- JORGENSEN, NIKLAS RYE, TEILMANN, STEFAN CUONI, HENRIKSEN, ZANNE, MEIER, EDDI, HANSEN, SUSANNE SYBERG, JENSEN, JENS-ERIK BECK, SORENSEN, OLE HELMER, & PETERSEN, JORGEN SOBERG. 2004. The Antiarrhythmic Peptide Analog Rotigaptide ZP123 Stimulates Gap Junction Intercellular Communication in Human Osteoblasts and Prevents Decrease in Femoral Trabecular Bone Strength in Ovariectomised Rats. *Endocrinology*, 146(11), 4745–4754.
- KHOSLA, SUNDEEP, & HOPBAUER, LORENZ C. 2017. Osteoporosis treatment: recent developments and ongoing challenges. LANCET DIABETES AND ENDICRINO-LOGY, 5(11), 898–907.
- KIMMEL, DONALD B, & JEE, WEBSTER S S. 1980. A Quantitative Histologic Analysis of the Growing Long Bone Metaphysis. *Calcified Tissue International*, **32**, 113–122.
- KOMAROVA, SVETLANA. 2006. Bone Remodeling in Health and Disease: Lessons From Mathematical Modeling. New York Academy of Sciences, 1068, 557–559.
- KOMAROVA, SVETLANA V. 2004. Mathematical Model of Paracrine Interactions Between Osteoclasts and Osteoblasts Predicts Anabolic Action of Parathyroid Hormone on Bone. Endocrinology, 1038(8), 3689–3595.

- KOMAROVA, SVETLANA V, SMITH, ROBERT J, DIXON, S JEFFREY, SIMS, STEPHEN M, & WAHL, LINDI M. 2003. Mathematical model predicts a critical role for osteoclast autocrine regulation in the control of bone remodeling. *Bone*, 33, 206–215.
- KUMAR, CHANCHAL, PANIGRAHI, INUSHA, ARADHYA, ABHISHEK SOMASEKHARA, MEENA, BABU LAL, & KHANDELWAL, NIRANJAN. 2016. Zoledronic for Osteogenesis imperfecta: evaluation of safety profile in children. JOURNAL OF PEDIATRIC ENDOCRINOLOGY AND METABOLISM, 29(8), 947–952.
- LANE, NANCY E, YAO, WEI, KINNEY, JOHN H, MODIN, GUNNARD, BALOOCH, ME-HDI, & WRONSKI, THOMAS J. 2003. Both hPTH 1-34 and bFGF Increase Trabecular Bone Mass in Osteopenic Rats but They Have Different Effects on Trabecular Bone Architecture. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 18(12), 2105–2115.
- LANYON, L E. 1993. Osteocytes, strain detection, bone modeling and remodeling. *Cacified Tissue International*, **53**, S102–S107.
- LEMAIRE, VINCENT, TOBIN, FRANK L, GRELLAR, LARRY D, CHO, CAROLYN R, & SUVA, LARRY. 2004. Modeling the interaction between osteoblast and osteoclast activities in bone remodeling. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **229**, 293–392.
- LEPPANEN, OLLI V, SIEVANEN, HARRI, JOKIHAARA, JARKKO, PAJAMAKI, ILARI, KANNUS, PEKKA, COOPER, DAVID M, & JARVINEN, TEPPO L N. 2010. The effects of loading and estrogen on rat bone growth. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **108**, 1737– 1744.
- LEVENSTON, MARC E. 1997. TEMPORAL STABILITY OF NODE–BASED IN-TERNAL BONE ADAPTATION SIMULATIONS. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **30**(4), 403–407.
- LI, M, & WRONSKI, T J. 1995. Response of Femoral Neck to Estrogen Depletion and Parathyroid Hormone in Aged Rats. *Bone*, **16**(5), 551–557.
- LIU, X SHERRY, BEVILL, GRANT, KEAVENY, TONY M, SAJDA, PAUL, & GUO, X ED-WARD. 2009. Micromechanical analyses of vertebral trabecular bone based on individual trabeculae segmentation of plates and rods. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **42**, 249–256.

- LOANA PASTRAMA, MARIA, SCHEINER, STEFAN, PIVONKA, PETER, & HELLMICH, CHRISTIAN. 2018. A mathematical multiscale model of bone remodeling, accounting for pore space-specific mechanosensation. BONE, 107, 208–221.
- LOTINUM, SUTADA, WESTERLIND, KIM C, KENNEDY, ANGELA M, & TURNER, RUSSELL T. 2003. Comparative effects of long-term continuous release of 16αhydroxyestrone and 17β-estradiol on bone, uterus and serum cholesterol in ovariectomized adult rats. Bone, 33, 124–131.
- LUI, JULIAN C, NILSSON, OLA, & BARON, JEFFREY. 2014. Recent insights into the regulation of the growth plate. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, **53**, T1–T9.
- LUPION, PATRICIA M, BRUN, LUCAS R, & LORETO, VERONICA E DI. 2018. ZOLE-DRONIC ACID EFFECT ON BONE OF GROWING RATS. ACTUALIZACIONES EN OSTEOLOGIA, 14(3), 168–177.
- MALONE, AMANDA M D, ANDERSON, CHARLES T, TUMMALA, PADMAJA, KWON, RONALD Y, JOHNSTON, TYLER R, STEARNS, TIME, & JACOBS, CHRISTOPHER R. 2007. PrImary cilia mediate mechanosensing in bone cells by a calcium-independent mechanism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences in the United States of America, 104(33), 13325–13330.
- MARTIN, BRIANNA L, & BOTTEMA, MURK J. 2015. Textons for 3D Binary Data with Applications to Classifying Cancellous Bone. International Conference on Digital Image Computing: Techniques and Applications (DICTA).
- MARTIN, M J, & BUCKLAND-WRIGHT, J C. 2004. Sensitivity analysis of a novel mathematical model identifies factors determining bone resorption rates. *Bone*, **35**, 918–928.
- MARTIN, R B. 1985. The Usefulness of Mathematical Models for Bone Remodeling. YEARBOOK OF PHYSICAL ANTRHOPOLOGY, 28, 227–236.
- MARTIN, T JOHN. 2008. Bone remodelling: its local regulation and the emergence of bone fragility. Best Practice and Research Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 22(5), 701–722.

- MASTROGIACOMBO, M, PAPADIMITROPOLOUS, A, CEDOLA, A, PEYRIN, F, GIAN-NONI, P, PEARCE, S G, LINI, M, GIANNINI, C, GUAGLIARDI, A, & CANCEDDA, R. 2007. Engineering of bone using bone marrow stromal cells and a silicon–stabilized tricalcium phosphate bioceramic: Evidence for a coupling between bone formation and scaffold resorption. *Biomaterials*, 28, 1376–1384.
- MATSUO, KOICHI, & IRIE, NAOKO. 2008. Osteoclast-osteoblast communication. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics.
- MI, L, FRITTON, S, BASU, M, & COWIN, S. 2005. Analysis of avian bone response to mechanical loading - Part One: Distribution of bone fluid shear stress induced by bending and axial loading. *Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology*, 4, 118–131.
- MIZUHASHI, K, ONO, W, MATSUSHITA, Y, SAKAGAMI, N, TAKAHASHI, A, SAUNDERS, T L, NAGASAWA, T, KRONENBERG, H M, & ONO, N. 2018. Resting zone of the growth plate houses a unique class of skeletal stem cells. *NATURE*, 563(7730), 254– 258.
- MODI, HITESH N, SUH, SEUNG WOO, PRJVC, BOOPALAN, HONG, JAE-YOUNG, YANG, JAE-HYUK, PARK, YOUNG-HWAN, LEE, JAE-MOON, & KWON, YONG-HYON. 2011. Bone quality and growth characteristics of growth plates following limb transplantation between animals of different ages - Results of experimental study in male syngeneic rats. Journal of Orthopaedic Surery and Research, 6(53), 2–7.
- MUDERIS, M AL, AZZOPARDI, T, & CUNDY, P. 2007. Zebra Lines of Pamidronate Therapy in Children. THE JOURNAL OF BONE AND JOINT SURGERY, 89, 1511– 1516.
- MULLENDER, M G, & HUISKES, R. 1997. Osteocytes and bone lining cells: which are the best candidates for mechano–sensors in cancellous bone? *Bone*, **20**, 527–532.
- MULLENDER, M G, HUISKES, R, & WEINANS, H. 1994. A physiological approach to the simulation of bone remodeling as a self–organizational control process. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 27, 1389–1394.

- MULLER, R. 2005. Long-term prediction of three-dimensional bone architecture in simulations of pre-, peri- and post-menopausal microstructural bone remodeling. Osteosis International, 16, S25–S35.
- NANCOLLAS, G H, TANG, R, PHIPPS, R J, HENNEMAN, Z, GULDE, S, WU, MAN-GOOD, A, RUSSELL, R G G, & EBETINO, F H. 2005. Novel insights into actions of bisphosphonates on bone: Differences in interactions with hydroxyapatite. *Bone*, 5, 617–627.
- NARVÁEZ-TOVAR, CARLOS A, & GARZON ALVARADO, DIEGO A. 2012. Computational modeling of the mechanical modulation of the growth plate by sustained loading. *The*oretical Biology and Medical Modelling, **9**(41).
- NISHIMORI, S, LAI, F, SHIRAISHI, M, KOBAYASHI, T, KOZHEMYAKINA, E, YAO, T P, LASSAR, A B, & KRONENBERG, H M. 2019. PTHrP targets HDAC4 and HDAC5 to repress chondrocyte hypertrophy. *JCI Insight*, **33**, 344–344.
- NYMAN, JEFFREY S, YEH, OSCAR C, HAZELWOOD, SCOTT J, & MARTIN, R BRUCE. 2004. A theoretical analysis of long-term bishphosphonate effects on trabecular bone volume and microdamage. *Bone*, **35**, 296–305.
- ODGREN, PAUL R, WITWICKA, HANNA, & GUTIERREZ, PABLO REYES. 2016. The cast of clasts: catabolism and vascular invasion during bone growth, repair and disease by osteoclasts, chondroclasts and septoclasts. CONNECTIVE TISSUE RESEARCH, 57(3), 161–174.
- OTSU, N. 1978. A threshold selection method from gray-scale histogram. *IEEE Trans* Sys Man Cybern, 8, 62–66.
- PARFIT, A M. 2002. Targeted and Nontargeted Bone Remodeling: Relationship to Basic Multicellular Unit Origination and Progression. Bone, 30(1), 5–7.
- PARFITT, A M. 2002. Perspective. Misconceptions 2: Turnover Is Always Higher in Cancellous Than in Cortical Bone. Bone, 30(6), 807–809.

- PARFITT, A M, MATHEWS, C H E, VILLANUEVA, A R, KLEEREKOPER, M, FRAME, B, & RAO, D S. 1983. Relationships between Surface, Volume, and Thickness of Iliac Trabecular Bone in Aging and in Osteoporosis. *Journal for Clinical Investigation*, **72**, 1396–1409.
- PARFITT, A MICHAEL, DREZNER, MARC K, GLORIEUX, FRANCIS H, KANIS, JOHN A, MALLUCHE, HARTMUT, MEUNIER, PIERRE J, OTT, SUSAN M, & RECKER, ROBERT R. 1987. Bone Histomorphometry: Standardisation of Nomenclature, Symbols, and Units. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 2(6), 595–610.
- PATAKI, A, MULLER, K, GREEN, J R, MA, Y F, LI, Q N, & JEE, W S S. 1997. Effects of short-term treatment with the bisphosphonates zoledronate and pamidronate on rat bone: a comparative histomorphometric study on cancellous bone formed before and after treatment. *The Anatomical Record*, **249**, 458–468.
- PERILLI, EGON, LE, V, MA, B, SALMON, P, REYNOLDS, K, & FAZZALARI, N L. 2009. Detecting early bone changes using in vivo micro-CT in ovariectomized, zoledronic acid-treated, and sham-operated rats. *International Osteoporosis*, **21**, 1371–1382.
- PERREN, S M. 1979. Physical and biological aspects of fracture healing with special reference to internal fixation. *Clinical Orthopaedic Related Research*, **138**, 175–195.
- PERRY, MARK J, MCDOUGALL, KATHLEEN E, CHEN HOU, SHU, & TOBIAS, JONATHAN H. 2008. Impaired growth plate function in bmp-6 null mice. *BONE*, 42, 216–225.
- PIEKARSKI, K, & MUNRO, M. 1977. Transport mechanism operating between blood supply and osteocytes in long bones. *Nature*, **269**, 80–82.
- PIVONKA, PETER, & KOMAROVA, SVETLANA V. 2010. Mathematical modeling in bone biology: From intracellular signaling to tissue mechanics. *Bone*, **47**, 181–189.
- PIVONKA, PETER, BUENZLI, PASCAL, SCHEINER, STEFAN, HELLMICH, CHRISTIAN, & DUNSTAN, COLIN R. 2013. The influence of bone surface availability in bone remodelling–A mathematical model including coupled geometrical and biomechanical regulations of bone cells. *Engineering Structures*, 47, 134–147.

- PRENDERGAST, P J, HUISKES, R, & SOBALLE, K. 1997. Biophysical stimuli on cells during tissue differentiation at implant interfaces. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **30**, 539– 648.
- RALTE, SARAH, KHATRI, KAMLESH, & NAGAR, MAHINDRA. 2011. Short-term effects of zoledronic acid on the histomorphology of osteoclast in young albino rats. Annals of Anatomy, 193, 509–515.
- RAO, S H, EVANS, K D, OBERBAUER, A M, & MARTIN, R B. 2008. Bisphosphonate treatment in the *oim* mouse model alters bone modeling during growth. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 41, 3371–3376.
- REED, A, JOYNER, C J, BROWNLOW, H, & SIMPSON, A H R W. 2002. Human atrophic fracture non-unions are not avascular. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 20, 593–599.
- REGINSTER, JEAN-YVES, COLLETTE, JULIEN, NERUPREX, AUDREW, ZEGELS, BRI-GITTE, DEROISY, RITA, & BRUYERE, OLIVER. 2007. Role of biochemical markers of bone turnover as prognostic indicator of successful osteoporosis therapy. *Bone*, 42, 832–836.
- REITSMA, P H, BIJVOET, O L M, VERLINDEN-OOMS, H, & VAN DER WEE-PALS, L J A. 1980. Kinetic studies of bone and mineral metabolism during treatment with (3-amino-1-hydroxylpropylidene)-1, 1-bisphosphonate (APD) in rats. *Cacified Tissue International*, **32**, 145–157.
- REZENDE, ELOIZA, BRADASCHIA-CORREA, VIVIAN, SIVIERO, FABIO, AMBROSIO, LU-CAS M B, & ARANA-CHAVEZ, VICTOR E. 2017. Effects of bisphosphonates on osteogenesis and osteoclastogenesis signaling during the endochondrol ossification of growing rats. *Cell and Tissue Research*, **368**(2), 287–300.
- RIGGS, B LAWRENCE, & PARFITT, A MICHAEL. 2005. Perspective. Drugs Used to Treat Osteoporosis: The Critical Need for a Uniform Nomenclature Based on Their Action on Bone Remodeling. JOURNAL OF BONE AND MINERAL RESEARCH, 20(16), 177–184.

- ROACH, HELMTRUD I, MEHTA, GAUTAM, OREFFO, RICHARD O C, CLARKE, NICH-OLAS M P, & COOPER, CYRUS. 2003. Temporal analysis of rat growth plates: cessation of growth with age despite presence of physis. *The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, **51**(3), 373–383.
- RUIMERMAN, R, HILBERS, P, VAN RIETBERGEN, B, & HUISKES, R. 2005. A theoretical framework for strain-related trabecular bone maintenance and adaptation. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 38, 931–941.
- RUSSELL, R G G, WATTS, N B, EBETINO, F H, & ROGERS, M J. 2008. Mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates: similarities and differences and their potential influence on clinical efficacy. *Osteoporosis International*, **19**, 733–759.
- RYSER, MARC D, KOMAROVA, SVLETLANA V, & NIGAM, NILMA. 2010. THE CEL-LULAR DYNAMICS OF BONE REMODELLING: A MATHEMATICAL MODEL. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 70, 1899–1921.
- SCHEINER, S, THEOVAL, A, PIVONKA, P, SMITH, D W, & BONEWALD, L F. 2010. Investigation of nutrient transport mechanisms in the lacunae-canaliculi system. *IOP Conf. Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 10.
- SCHEINER, STEFAN, PIVONKA, PETER, & HELLMICH, CHRISTIAN. 2013. Coupling systems biology with multiscale mechanics, for computer simulations of bone remodeling. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL FOR NUMERICAL METHODS IN BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING*, 29, 1307–1322.
- SCHENK, R, MERZ, W A, MUHLBAUER, R, RUSSELL, R G, & FLEISCH, H. 1973. Effect of ethane-1-hydroxy-1, 1-diphosphonate (EHDP) AND DICHLOROMETHYL-ENE DIPHOSPHONATE (CL_2 MDP) on the calcification and resorption of cartilage and bone in the tibial epiphysis and metaphysis of rats. *Cacified Tissue International*, 11, 196–214.
- SCHENK, R, EGGLI, P, FLEISCH, H, & ROSINI, S. 1986. Quantitative morphometric evaluation of the inhibitory activity of new aminobisphosphonates on bone resorption in the rat. *Calcified Tissue International*, **38**, 342–349.

- SCHULTE, F A, ZWAHLEN, A, LAMBERS, F M, KUHN, G, RUFFONI, D, BETTS, D, WEBSTER, D J, & MUELLER, R. 2013. Strain-adaptive in silico modeling of bone adaptation - A computer simulariton validated by in vivo micro-computed tomography data. BONE, 52(1), 475–492.
- SEEMAN, E. 2003. Periosteal bone formation: A neglected determinant of bone strength. N Eng J Med, 349, 320–323.
- SEEMAN, E. 2008. Structural basis of growth-related gain and age-related loss of bone strength. *Rheumatology*, **47**, iv2–iv8.
- SEEMAN, EGO. 2009. To stop or not to stop, that is the question. Osteoporosis International, 20, 187–195.
- SEEMAN, EGO, & DELMAS, PIERRE D. 2006. Bone Quality the Material and Structural Basis of Bone Strength and Fragility. New England Journal of Medicine, 354(21), 2250– 2261.
- SEEMAN, EGO, & MARTIN, T J. 2019. Antiresorptive and anabolic agents in the prevention and reversal of bone fragility. NATURE REVIEWS RHEUMATOLOGY, 15(4), 225–236.
- SERRA, JEAN. 1982. Image Analysis and Mathematical Morphology. Academic Press.
- SHE, GUORONG, ZHOU, ZIQI, ZHA, ZHENGANG, WANG, FEI, & PAN, XIAOTING. 2017. Protective effect of zoledronic acid on articular cartilage and subchondral bone of rabbits with experimental knee arthritis. *EXPERIMENTAL AND THERAPEUTIC MEDICIN*, 14(4), 4901–4909.
- SHEFELBINE, S J, AUGAT, P, CLAES, L, & SIMON, U. 2005. Trabecular bone fracture healing simulation with finite element analysis and fuzzy logic. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 38, 2440–2450.
- SHIRAI, T, KOBAYASHI, M, NISHITANI, K, SATAKE, T, KUROKI, H, NAKAGAWA, Y, & NAKAMURA, T. 2011. Chondroprotective effect of alendronate in a rabbit model of osteoarthritis. *Journal of Orthapaedic Research*, 29, 1572–1577.

- SIFFERT, R S, LUO, G M, COWIN, S C, & KAUFMAN, J J. 1996. Dynamic Relationships of Trabecular Bone Density, Architecutre, and Strength in a Computational Model of Osteopenia. *Bone*, 18(2), 197–206.
- SILVERMAN, STUART L. 2011. Bisphosphonate use in conditions other than osteoporosis. ANNALS OF THE NEW YORK ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, **1218**, 33–37.
- STEVENS, SHEILA S, & BEAUPRÉ, GARY S. 1999. Computer Model of Endochondral Growth and Ossification in Long Bones: Biological and Mechanobiological Influences. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 6, 148–154.
- STEVENS, SHEILA S, BEAUPRÉ, GARY S, & CARTER, D R. 1999. Mechanical Stresses and Endochondral Ossification in the Chrondoepiphysis. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 17, 615–653.
- STOKES, IAN A F, ARONSSON, DAVID D, DIMOCK, ABIGAIL N, CORTRIGHT, VALERIE, & BECK, SAMANTHA. 2006. Endochondral Growth in Growth Plates of Three Species at Two Anatomical Locations Modulated by Mechanical Compression and Tension. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 24, 1327–1334.
- STULPNER, M A, REDDY, B D, STARKE, G R, & SPIRAKIST, A. 1997. A THREE– DIMENSIONAL FINITE ELEMENT ANALYSIS OF ADAPTIVE REMODELLING IN THE PROXIMAL FEMUR. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **30**(10), 1063–1066.
- SZULE, P, & SEEMAN, E. 2009. Thinking inside and outside the envelopes of bone. Osteoporosis International, 20, 1281–1288.
- TAYYAR, S, WIENHOLD, P S, BUTLER, R A, WOODARD, J C, ZARDIACKAS, L D, JOHN, K R ST, BEDSOE, J M, & GILBERT, J A. 1999. Computer simulation of trabecular remodeling using a simplified structural model. *Bone*, 25, 733–739.
- TEITELBAUM, STEVEN L. 2000. Bone Resorption by Osteoclats. SCIENCE, 289, 1504–1508.
- TENTA, ROXANE, SOURLA, ANTIGONE, LEMBESSIS, PETER, & KOUTSILIERIS, MI-CHAEL. 2006. Bone-related growth factors and zoledronic acid regulate PTHrp/PTH.1

receptor bioregulation systems in MG-63 human osteosarcoma cells. *ANTICANCER RESEARCH*, **26**, 283–292.

- TKACHENKO, EVGENIY, SLYFIELD, CRAIG R, TOMLINSON, RYAN E, DAGGETT, JUSTIN R, WILSON, DAVID L, & HERNANDEZ, CHRISTOPHER JOHN. 2009. Voxel size and measures of individual resorption cavities in three–dimensional images of cancellous bone. *Bone*, 45, 487–492.
- TOUAITAHUATA, HEIANI, CRES, GAELLE, DE ROSSI, SYLVAIN, VIVES, VIRGINIE, & BLANGY, ANNE. 2014. The mineral dissolution function of osteoclasts is dispensible for hypertrophic cartilage degredation during long bone development. *Developmental Biology*, **393**, 57–70.
- TRICHILO, SILVIA, SCHEINER, STEFAN, FORWOOD, MARK, COOPER, DAVID M L, & PIVONKA, PETER. 2019. Computational model of the dual action of PTH- Application to a rat model of osteoporosis. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 473, 67–79.
- TSANG, KWOK YEUNG, CHAN, DANNY, & CHEAH, KATHRYN S E. 2015. Fate of growth plate hypertrophic chondrocytes: death or lineage extension? *Developmental Growth and Differentiation*, 57, 179–192.
- TSANGARI, HELEN, FINDLAY, DAVID M, ZANNETTINO, ANDREW C W, PAN, BEIQUING, KULIWABA, JULIA S, & FAZZALARI, NICOLA L. 2006. Evidence for reduced bone formation surface relative to bone resorption surface in female femoral fragility fracture patients. *Bone*, **39**, 1226–1235.
- TURNER, C H. 1999. Toward a mathematical description of bone biology: The principle of cellular accommodation. *Calcified Tissue International*, 65, 466–471.
- VÄÄNÄNEN, H KALERVO, ZHAO, HAIBO, MULARI, MIKA, & HALLEEN, JUSSI M. 2000. The cell biology of osteoclast function. *Journal of Cell Science*, **113**, 377–381.
- VAN DER MEULEN, MARJOLEIN C H, MORGAN, TIMOTHY G, YANG, XU, BALDINI, TODD H, MYERS, ELIZABETH R, WRIGHT, TIMOTH M, & BOSTROM, MATHIAS P G. 2006. Cancellous bone adaptation to in vivo loading in a rabbit model. *Bone*, 38, 871–877.

- VAN OERS, RENE F M, RUIMERMAN, RONALD, TANCK, ESTHER, HILBERS, PETER A J, & HUISKES, RIK. 2007. A unified theory for osteonal and hemi-osteonal remodeling. *Bone*, 42, 250–259.
- VISEKRUNA, M, WILSON, D, MCKIERNAN, F E, & EOIN, F. 2008. Severely suppressed bone turnover and atypical skeletal fragility. JOURNAL OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINO-LOGY AND METABOLISM, 93(8), 2948–2952.
- ŠTĚPÁN, J J, POSPÍCHAL, J, PREZL, J, & PACOVSKÝ, V. 1987. Bone Loss and Biochemical Indices of Bone Remodeling in Surgically Induced Postmenopausal Women. *Bone*, 8, 279–284.
- WALZER, S M, CETIN, E, GRUBL-BRABAS, R, SULZBACHER, I, RUEGER, B, GIRSCH, W, TOEGAL, S, WINDHAGER, R, & FISCHER, M B. 2014. Vascularisation of primary and secondary ossification centres in the human growth plate. BMC DEVELOP-MENTAL BIOLOGY, 14(36), 14–36.
- WANG, YAN, PIVONKA, PETER, BUENZLI, PASCAL R, SMITH, DAVID W, & DUNSTAN, COLIN R. 2011. Comutational Modelling of Interactions between Mmultiple Myeloma and the Bone Microenvironment. *PLOS one*, **6**.
- WEBER, M H, SHARP, J C, HASSARD, T H, & ORR, F W. 2002. Normal murine bone morphometry: A comparison of magnetic resonance microscopy with micro X-ray and histology. Skeletal Radiology, 31, 282–291.
- WEINAN, H, & GROOTENBOER, R HUISKES H. 1992. The behavior of adaptive boneremodeling simulation models. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **25**, 1424–1441.
- WEINBAUM, S, CROWN, S C, & ZENG, YU. 1994. A MODEL FOR THE EXCITA-TION OF OSTEOCYTES BY MECHANICAL LOADING-INDUCED BONE FLUID SHEAR STRESSES. *Journal of Biomechanics*, **27**(3), 339–360.
- WILSMAN, NORMAN J, FARNUM, CORNELIA E, LEIFERMAN, ELLEN M, FRI, MI-CHAEL, & BARRETO, C. 1996. Differential Growth by Growth Plates as a Function of Multiple Parameters of Chrondocytic Kinetics. *Journal of Orthapaedic Research*, 14, 927–936.

- WIMPENNEY, DAVID IAN, & MOROZ, ADAM. 2006. On allosteric control model of bone turnover cycle containing osteocyte regulation loop. *BioSystems*, **90**, 295–308.
- WRONSKI, T J, & LIANG, H. 1999. Effects of Age, Estrogen Depletion, and Parathyroid Hormone Treatment on Vertebral Cancellous Wall Width in Female Rats. Bone, 25(4), 465–468.
- WRONSKI, T J, DANN, L M, & HORNER, S L. 1989. Time Course of Vertebral Osteopenia in Ovariectomised Rats. *Bone*, **10**, 296–301.
- XIAN, CORY. 2014. Regulation, bone growth defects, and potential treatments. *Journal* for Molecular Endocrinology, **53**, E1–E2.
- XU, XIAO-LONG, GOU, WEN-LON, WANG, AI-YUAN, WANG, YU, GUO, QUAN-YI, LU, QIANG, LU, SHI-BI, & PENG, JIANG. 2013. Basic resarch and clinical application of bisphosphonates in bone disease: what have we learned over the last 40 years? *Journal of Translational Medicin*, **11**(303).
- YAU, WEI, BALOOCH, GUIVE, BALOOCH, MEHDI, JIANG, YEBIN, NALLA, RAVI K, KINNEY, JOHN, WRONSKI, THOMAS J, & LANE, NANCY E. 2006. Sequential treatment of ovariectomized mice with bFGF and risedronate restored trabecular bone microarchitecture and mineralization. *Bone*, **39**, 460–469.
- YOUNG, D R, NIKLOWITZ, W J, BROWN, R J, & JEE, W S S. 1986. Immobilization associated Osteoporosis in Primates. *Bone*, 7, 109–117.

Appendix A

Data supplementary

A.1 Animal handling of inherited data

The data for this study were inherited in the form of rat tibial reconstructed μCT scans. Originally the rats were purchased from Adelaide University, weighing approximately 200g and housed three to four per cage and exposed to 12 hour light/12 hour dark cycle at constant temperature 23 ± 1^{0} C. After one week of acclimatisation the animals were anaesthetized with a peritoneal injection of ketamine/xylaxin (1ml/100g) and underwent scanning before assignment into the three experimental groups. All animals were treated according to the Australian code of practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes with the approval from the National Health and Research Council of Australia. The animals were provided ad libitum access to tap water and standard rat chow (19% protein, 0.67% phosphorous, 0.78% calcium, and 2000 IU/kg vitamin D).

A.2 μCT procedures

The overectomies and sham ovariectomy were performed after initial scanning at t = 0and the ovx+zol animals started weekly treatment with bisphosphonate Zoledronic acid (Zometa, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) in the peritoneal cavity (1.6µg/kg) at t = 14. At the time of Zoledronic treatment, sham and ovx animals received the equivalent volume of saline injections. Each rat underwent in vivo μ -CT scanning of the right hind limb (Skyscan model 1076, Skyscan, Kontich, Belgium) at t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84. Due to an adverse reaction to the aesthetic two sham rats died before the final scan at t = 84, and one ovx+zol rat died before t = 84 from necrotised toes in the right foot.

Acquisition settings, scanning procedures, and reconstruction methods were as reported in (Perilli *et al.*, 2009). In summary, the scan settings were as follows: the X-ray source was 74kVp and 100mA; the rotation step 0.8° ; the scanning width: 35mm; the pixel size: 8.702μ m; the filter was AL 1mm; and the scanning duration was 20 minutes per rat. The raw data were reconstructed using standard software Nrecon (Skyscan, Belgium).

A.2.1 Limitations of the data

The following discrepancies during the experimental procedures may have affected the quality of the data.

- The rats were not weighed. The rats were said to weigh 'roughly 200g' upon arrival. According to The University of Adelaide Laboratory Animal services, the average weight of female Sprague Dawley rats, at week 8 is 196.8 g, with a range 175 -220 g. The increasing weight of rats was not taken into account for dosages of Zoledronic acid or anaesthetic (Xylazine/Ketimine), nor were there adjustments made for individual rats.
- The rats received 'weekly injections' though not always at the same time or on the same day each week.
- The changing bone lengths over time were not available.
- Histological procedures were never carried out.
- Only 300 μ CT slices available for one of the ovx rats at t = 0, in the proximal region of the bone block.
- Biomarkers were not measured.

A.3 Preliminary observations supplementaries

P-values should be used as indications only, since sample sizes were too small to obtain values with confidence.

	P-values comparing group m values in $B_{r,t}(x) = mx + b$										
	t = 0	t = 14	t = 28	t = 56	t = 84						
(a)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.097\\ (N_1, N_2 = 10, 9) \end{array}$	$0.137 \ ({ m N}=19)$	$0.072 \ ({ m N}=20)$	$0.1209 \ ({ m N}=20)$	0.062 (N = 18)						
(b)	0.104 (N = 20)	$0.501 \ ({ m N}=20)$									
(c)	0.068 $(\mathrm{N}=19)$	$0.112 \ (N = 20)$									
(d)	$0.101 \ ({ m N}=30)$	0.083 $({ m N}=30)$									

Table A.1: P-values for testing the null hypothesis that values of m found for linear fits to $B_{r,t}(x) = mx + b$ are the same for sham and ovx groups for $t \ge 0$ and for ovx+zol for t = 0, 14. P-values presented for t-tests between the following groups: (a) group 1 (G1) = sham, group 2 (G2) = ovx; (b) G1 = sham, G2 = ovx+zol; (c) G1 = ovx, G2 = ovx+zol; and (d) G1 = pooled m values of both sham and ovx groups, G1 = ovx+zol.



Figure A.1: Bone blocks at t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84 for a single sham rat (column 1); a single ovx rat (column 2); and a single ovx+zol rat (column 3).

	t		14		28		56		84
sham	0	(a)	0.048	(b)	0.066	(c)	0.024	(d)	0.066
	2			(e)	0.986	(f)	0.656	(g)	0.786
	4					(h)	0.689	(i)	0.807
	8							(j)	0.914
OVX	0	(a)	0.001	(b)	< 0.001	(c)	< 0.001	(d)	< 0.001
	2			(e)	0.016	(f)	$<\!0.001$	(g)	$<\!0.001$
	4					(g)	0.097	(i)	0.016
	8							(j)	0.370

P-values comparing group averages of additive constants $b_{\boldsymbol{r},t}$

Table A.2: P-values for testing the null hypothesis that group additive constants $b_{r,t}$ for Model 2.2 do not change over time for sham and ovx rats. P-values are presented for group average additive constants between time points t (a) 0 and 14; (b) 0 and 28; (c) 0 and 56; (d) 0 and 84; (e) 14 and 28; (f) 14 and 56; (g) 14 and 84; (h) 28 and 56, (i) 28 and 84; and (j) 56 and 84.
Appendix B

Mathematical modelling supplementary

B.1 Prior work: ODE temporal model

For equation 3.1, 18 models were considered with c(B) and f(B) each being linearly dependent on B(t) or BS/TV, or independent of the amount of bone present; and also for f(B) having independence on the number of remodelling cites per unit time for current B.

Three models for c(B) were considered,

$$c(B) = C, \quad c(B) = CB, \quad c(B) = CKB^{2/3},$$

representing independence of the amount of bone present (dependence on tissue volume only); linear dependence on BV/TV, B; and linear dependence on the specific area $BS/TV = KB^{2/3}$. In each of these three models, C is a proportionality constant, but varies both numerically, and in units between the three models.

Similarly, three models for average formation volume were considered

$$f(B) = F \quad f(B) = FB \quad f(B) = FKB^{2/3}.$$

In these three models, formation volume is modelled as independent of the cycle rate. A further three variants were considered to include possible dependence on the number of remodelling cites per unit time for current BV/TV, B.

$$f(B) = \frac{F}{c(B)}$$
 $f(B) = \frac{FB}{c(B)}$ $f(B) = \frac{FKB^{2/3}}{c(B)}$.

Only three models predict convergence of B(t) to finite positive values,

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = F_t - C_v RB \tag{B.1}$$

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = F_t - C_s R K B^{2/3} \tag{B.2}$$

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = F_s K B^{2/3} - C_v R B \tag{B.3}$$

For this work, c(B), f(B) and R were determined for each group and the results were very similar across the 3 models. The results indicate that the effect of ovx is increased R compared to the sham group and also increased c(B) which is in agreement with the literature. Results for the effect of ovx+zol indicate a slight increase in the ratio of f(B) : R per event compared to the sham group which is in accordance with the literature. However for ovx+zol, both R and f(B) decreased compared to the sham group, and c(B)increased, where these three effects are not in agreement with the current understanding of bisphosphonates.

B.2 Derivation of the model for BV/TV

With the same criterion as in section 3.1, only models that predict B(x, t) to converge to a finite positive value for fixed t were considered further. Again, this criterion reduced the number of possible models to three, each as presented as a PDE, each in the region $\Omega = \{(x, t) | x \ge 1.2mm, t \ge 0\}.$

$$B_t + vB_x = F_t - C_v RB \tag{B.4}$$

$$B_t + vB_x = F_t - C_s RKB^{2/3} \tag{B.5}$$

$$B_t + vB_x = F_s K B^{2/3} - C_v R B (B.6)$$

Here $C_v = \frac{events/tissue volume}{bone volume fraction \times day}$ in units (events $mm^{-3}day^{-1}$) from $c(B) = C_v B(t)$ where the cycle rate is proportional to the density of bone; $C_s = \frac{events/tissue volume}{total surface \times day}$ in units (events $mm^{-2}day^{-1}$) from $c(B) = C_s KB^{2/3}(t)$ where the cycle rate is proportional to the bone surface area, $F_t = \frac{average formation volume}{tissue volume}$ in units (day^{-1}) from $f(B) = \frac{F}{c(B)}$ where the average formation is not dependent on either bone density or surface area; and $F_s = \frac{average formation volume}{total surface area}$ in units ($mmday^{-1}$) from $f(B) = \frac{F_s KB^{2/3}(t)}{c(B)}$ where f(B) is dependent on the surface area of the bone and the cycle rate.

For work carried out by (Fazzalari *et al.*, 2012), ODE results indicated that of the three models, no particular model stood out as being 'better' than the others. Thus Model B.4 was used for the chosen for further work. The model for BV/TV becomes

$$\frac{1}{v}B_t + B_x = \frac{1}{v}(F - CRB(t)) \tag{B.7}$$

$$B(0,t) = D(t) \tag{B.8}$$

$$C(t) = \frac{C_1 + C_3}{2} + \frac{C_2 - C_1}{2} \tanh(\lambda_1(t - J_1)) + \frac{C_3 - C_2}{2} \tanh(\lambda_2(t - J_2))$$
(B.9)

$$D(t) = \frac{D_2 + D_1}{2} + \frac{D_2 - D_1}{2} \tanh(\eta(t - K)).$$
 (B.10)

The following constants are introduced to reduce the notation

$$A = \frac{F}{v}, \ P = \frac{R(C_1 + C_3)}{2v}, \ Q_1 = \frac{R(C_2 - C_1)}{2v}, \ Q_2 = \frac{R(C_3 - C_2)}{2v},$$

The PDE becomes

$$\frac{1}{v}B_t + B_x = A - PB + (Q_1 \tanh(\lambda_1(t - J_1)))B (Q_2 \tanh(\lambda_2(t - J_2)))B,$$
(B.11)

$$B(0,t) = D(t) \tag{B.12}$$

The solution curve in \mathbb{R}^3 denoted by (x(s), t(s), B(x(s), t(s))). Setting z(s) = B(x(s), t(s)), and choosing the parameter s such that z(0) = D(r) and taking the derivatives with respect to s,

$$\frac{dz}{ds} = \frac{dz}{dt}\frac{dt}{ds} + \frac{dz}{dx}\frac{dx}{ds}$$

so (B.11) is resolved into three ODE initial value problems

$$\frac{dt}{ds}(s) = \frac{1}{v}, \quad t(0) = r \tag{B.13}$$

$$\frac{dx}{ds}(s) = 0, \ x(0) = 0 \tag{B.14}$$

$$\frac{dz}{ds}(s) = A - (P + Q_1 \tanh(\lambda_1(t - J_1)) + Q_2 \tanh(\lambda_2(t - J_2))) z, \quad (B.15)$$

$$z(0) = D(r) \tag{B.16}$$

Solutions to (B.13), (B.14) are

$$x = s, \quad t = \frac{s}{v} + r. \tag{B.17}$$

Substituting (B.17) in (B.15) to get

$$\frac{dz}{ds}(s) = A - (P + Q_1 \tanh(\lambda_1(s/v + r - J_1)) + Q_2 \tanh(\lambda_2(s/v + r - J_2))) z,$$

$$z(0) = D(r)$$
(B.18)

To solve (B.18), set

$$g(s,r) = P + Q_1 \tanh\left(\lambda_1(s/v + r - J_1)\right) + Q_2 \tanh\left(\lambda_2(s/v + r - J_2)\right)$$
(B.19)

(B.18) becomes

$$\frac{dz}{ds} + g(s,r)z = A, \ z(0) = D(r),$$
 (B.20)

a linear first order IVP. Set

$$G(s,r) = Ps + \frac{Q_1 v}{\lambda_1} \ln \left(e^{\lambda_1 (s/v + r - J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1 (s/v + r - J_1)} \right) + \frac{Q_2 v}{\lambda_2} \ln \left(e^{\lambda_2 (s/v + r - J_2)} + e^{-\lambda_2 (s/v + r - J_2)} \right),$$
(B.21)

where G'(s, r) = g(s, r). Thus

$$\frac{d}{ds}ze^{G(s,r)} = \frac{dz}{ds} \cdot e^{G(s,r)} + z \cdot g(s,r)e^{G(s,r)}.$$
$$= e^{G(s,r)}\left(\frac{dz}{ds} + g(s,r)z\right)$$
$$= Ae^{G(s,r)}$$

Hence

$$ze^{G(s,r)} = H + A \int_0^s e^{G(w)} dw$$

and by initial conditions at s = 0 where $z(0) = D(r), H = D(r)e^{G(0,r)}$. Thus

$$z(s) = D(r)e^{G(0,r) - G(s,r)} + e^{-G(s,r)}A \int_0^s e^{G(w)}dw.$$
 (B.22)

From (B.22)

$$e^{G(s,r)} = e^{Ps} \left(e^{\lambda_1(s/v+r-J_1)} + e^{-\lambda_1(s/v+r-J_1)} \right)^{Q_1v/\lambda_1} \left(e^{\lambda_2(s/v+r-J_2)} + e^{-\lambda_2(s/v+r-J_2)} \right)^{Q_2v/\lambda_2}.$$

Substituting y = w/v + r, the integral in (B.22), $\int_0^s e^{G(w,s)} dw$, becomes

$$\int_{0}^{s} e^{Pw} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(w/v+r-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(w/v+r-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(w/v+r-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(w/v+r-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dw$$

$$= \int_{0}^{s} e^{P(vy-vr)} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dy$$

$$= v \int_{r}^{s/v+r} e^{P(vy-vr)} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dy$$

$$= v e^{-Pvr} \int_{r}^{s/v+r} e^{Pvy} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dy$$

From (B.22), $e^{-G(s,r)}A\int_0^s e^{G(w,s)}dw$ becomes

$$e^{-G(s,r)}Ave^{-Pvr} \int_{r}^{s/v+r} e^{Pvy} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dy$$

$$= \operatorname{Ave}^{-(Ps+Pvr)} \int_{r}^{s/v+r} e^{Pvy} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dy$$

$$= \frac{Ave^{-Pv(s/v+r)} \int_{r}^{s/v+r} e^{Pvy} \left(e^{\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(y-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(y-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}} dy}{\left(e^{\lambda_{1}(t-J_{1})} + e^{-\lambda_{1}(t-J_{1})} \right)^{Q_{1}v/\lambda_{1}} \left(e^{\lambda_{2}(t-J_{2})} + e^{-\lambda_{2}(t-J_{2})} \right)^{Q_{2}v/\lambda_{2}}}$$

The complete solution is presented in Chapter 3.

Appendix C

Results supplementary



Figure C.1: Model for B(x,t) for sham rats with initial conditions s = 0.1. Each figure shows the BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for each t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84 for an individual rat from the sham group (blue) plus the model for B(x,t)superimposed (red) for each t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84. Parameter values are set to s = 0.1, and $J_1 = 0, J_2 = 14, K = 14$.



Figure C.2: Model for B(x,t) for ovx rats with initial conditions s = 0.1. Each figure shows the BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for each t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84 for an individual rat from the ovx group (blue) plus the model for B(x,t) superimposed (red) for each t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84. Parameter values are set to s = 0.1, and $J_1 = 0, J_2 = 14, K = 14$.



Figure C.3: Model for B(x,t) for ovx+zol rats with initial conditions s = 0.1. Each figure shows the BV/TV values against distance from the growth plate for each t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84 for an individual rat from the ovx+zol group (blue) plus the model for B(x,t)superimposed (red) for each t = 0, 14, 28, 56, 84. Parameter values are set to s = 0.1, and $J_1 = 0, J_2 = 14, K = 14$.

	${\rm Rat}\;{\rm ID}\;({\rm n}=10)$										
Parameter	1	4	6	9	11	14	17	22	23	26	
v	0.0380	0.0260	0.0340	0.0320	0.0340	0.0360	0.0340	0.0380	0.0320	0.0280	
S_1	0.0065	0.0065	0.0067	0.0069	0.0067	0.0069	0.0085	0.0083	0.0067	0.0072	
D_1	0.7278	0.5944	0.6833	0.6833	0.7722	0.6833	0.6833	0.7278	0.7278	0.7278	
\overline{F}	10	10	0.0100	0.0100	10	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	10	1.0434	$\times 10^{-11}$

Group error: 0.0362

Table C.1: Optimal parameter values for each sham rat

${\rm Rat}\;{\rm ID}\;({\rm n}=7)$										
Parameter	8	10	12	15	27	28	29			
v	0.0380	0.0280	0.0380	0.0220	0.0360	0.0380	0.0300			
S_1	0.0085	0.0085	0.0065	0.0065	0.0085	0.0072	0.0085			
S_2	0.0400	0.0244	0.0400	0.0400	0.0400	0.0333	0.0400			
D_1	0.6833	0.5500	0.7278	0.6389	0.5944	0.8611	0.8167			
λ_1	0.2311	0.2311	2	1.3367	0.2311	2	1.7789			
J_1	2	0	0	0	0	1	0			
F	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	10	0.0100	$\times 10^{-11}$		

Group error: 0.0363

Table C.2: Optimal parameter values for each ovx rat

${\rm Rat}\;{\rm ID}\;({\rm n}=9)$										
Parameter	2	5	7	13	19	21	24	25	30	
v	0.0360	0.0380	0.0340	0.0380	0.0380	0.0320	0.0360	0.0280	0.0360	
S_1	0.0067	0.0065	0.0069	0.0072	0.0085	0.0065	0.0065	0.0085	0.0085	
S_2	0.0267	0.0378	0.0200	0.0289	0.0356	0.0244	0.0400	0.0333	0.0244	
S_3	0.0044	0.0022	0.0011	0.0022	0.0022	0.0033	0.0022	0.0022	0.0022	
D_1	0.7278	0.7722	0.6389	0.6389	0.5500	0.5944	0.7278	0.5500	0.8167	
D_2	0.8967	0.9456	0.9700	0.9700	0.8722	0.9700	0.9700	0.9456	0.9700	
λ_1	0.0100	2	2	0.2311	0.2311	2	2	0.2311	0.2311	
λ_2	0.3422	0.3422	0.3422	0.3422	0.3422	0.3422	3	0.3422	0.3422	
η	0.0600	0.1000	0.1600	0.0800	0.0600	0.1200	0.0800	0.0600	0.0400	
J_1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
J_2	18	18	16	18	18	18	18	18	14	
K	14	18	18	18	16	18	18	18	14	
F	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	10	10	0.0100	0.0100	$\times 10^{-11}$

Group error: 0.0363

Table C.3: Optimal parameter values for each ovx+zol rat



Figure C.4: Distribution of parameter values with initial conditions s = 0.1. Parameters are $v, S_1, S_2, S_3, D_1, D_2, \lambda_1, \lambda_2, E, F$ for s = 0.1 and $J_1 = 0, J_2 = 14, K = 14$. Colours are according to group. Sham: blue o, ovx: red *, zol: green triangle.